





This is to certify that the

thesis entitled

A TECTONIC RECONSTRUCTION OF THE URAL MOUNTAINS, U.S.S.R.

presented by

Jay Brian Silber

has been accepted towards fulfillment of the requirements for

M.S. degree in Geology

Jarma Tajita Major professor

Date 14 October, 1982

O-7639

MSU is an Affirmative Action/Equal Opportunity Institution



1.1.1

.

RETURNING MATERIALS: Place in book drop to remove this checkout from your record. FINES will be charged if book is returned after the date stamped below.

A TECTONIC RECONSTRUCTION OF THE URAL MOUNTAINS, U.S.S.R.

by

Jay Brian Silber

A THESIS

Submitted to Michigan State University in partial fulfillment of the requirement for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Geology

ABSTRACT A TECTONIC RECONSTRUCTION OF THE URAL MOUNTAINS, U.S.S.R.

Ву

Jay Brian Silber

The southern Urals, central USSR, can be subdivided into nine elongate north-south striking terranes. From west to east these are the Ufa-Bashkir, Zilair, Uraltau, Sakmara, Magnitogorsk, Bredy, East Ural, Turgay, and Ishim terranes. The first three and the East Ural terrane are composed of continental crust while the remainder are oceanic in origin. The Sakmara, Magnitogorsk, and Turgay terranes also preserve evidence of former island arcs.

The Ural Mountains were created as a result of obduction of these arcs and intervening back-arc crust onto the Russian Platform between the Early Devonian and the Middle Carboniferous. The evolution of the Urals can be explained solely by westward dipping subduction zones and without complete closure between the Russian Platform and the Kazakhstanian plate. This work is dedicated to Harold and Rhea Silber.

.

.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank Kazuya Fujita for his continuous guidance and helpful suggestions and for the use of his personal library during the course of this study. I would also like to thank Drs. Cambray and Trow for their commentary on this manuscript.

Special thanks go to an understanding office mate, David Paddock, to April Poelvoorde and to colleagues W. J. Roger, Jr., M. J. Coley, J. T. Newberry, R. A. Farmer and J. M. Taylor.

The friendship and intellect of Wayne Schroll have been invaluable over the course of the past two years.

This study was funded in part by the National Science Foundation grant 80-25267 and the Petroleum Research Fund grant G 12366 and is gratefully acknowledged.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Tables
List of Figures
Introduction
Previous Soviet Work
Previous American Work13
Data Sources15
Identification of Tectonostratigraphic Terranes17
Ufa-Bashkir Terrane
Zilair Terrane
Uraltau Terrane
Sakmara Terrane
Magnitogorsk Terrane
Terranes of the East Urals42
West Siberian Lowlands45
Kazakhstania Terrane47
Tagil Terrane
Polar Urals
Paleomagnetics
Tectonic Evolution
Discussion
Appendix A
Appendix B
Bibliography

LIST OF TABLES

Table	A-I.	Paleopole positions	73
Table	A-II.	Paleomagnetic data file	.79
Table	A-III.	Paleomagnetic data file	86
Table	A-IV.	Paleomagnetic pole calculations	92
Table	A-V.	Data sort routine	94

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1.	Location of study area
Figure	2.	Subdivision of the Ural Mountains
Figure	3.	Terranes of the Southern Urals
Figure	4.	Tectonic development of the Sakmara Trough10
Figure	5.	Division of the Southern Urals19
Figure	6.	Geologic time scale22
Figure	7.	Geologic columns of the Southern Urals24
Figure	7a.	Geologic symbols26
Figure	8.	Geologic columns of the Southern Urals30
Figure	9.	Geologic columns of the Southern Urals32
Figure	10.	Distribution of andesites44
Figure	11.	Terranes of Kazakhstania49
Figure	12.	Seismic profile: Kazakhstania52
Figure	13.	Map of Central and Northern Urals54
Figure	14.	Map of Polar Urals
Figure	15.	Synthesis of reconstruction
Figure	A-1.	Paleomagnetic time scale
Figure	A-2.	Polar wandering curve for Kazakhstania74
Figure	A-3.	Polar wandering curve for Russia
Figure	A-4.	Polar wandering curve for Siberia
Figure	A-5.	Polar wandering curve for three plates77

INTRODUCTION

Tectonic reconstructions throughout the world provide important academic information to scientists and industry. The Ural Mountains have been a major source of economic mineral deposits and consequently have received much attention from Soviet geologists and geophysicists. Little work, however, has been done by researchers outside the Soviet Union along the lines of a complete plate tectonic reconstruction of the Urals: the interaction of the Baltican (Russian), Siberian, and Kazakhstanian plates and the implications of such interactions. Soviet tectonic reconstructions use the concepts of vertical tectonics which does not require the entire region to be treated as a whole, but rather suffices to explain each structure as an independent unit with minimal influence imposed by surrounding struc-Information gleaned from geologic maps and transtures. lated Soviet literature can be interpreted to create a model where the basic premise is within the realm of currently accepted geologic and tectonic processes, i.e., the new global tectonics.

The primary objective of this study is to develop a plate tectonic model for the origin and evolution of the Uralian region. In the process, a regional geologic summary

is developed and paleomagnetic data are summarized. A short digression into the Soviet geologic philosophy is included in order to better understand their classification of features and tectonic interpretation. It is not the intent of this research to study the Urals in great detail with respect to every field in the geological sciences, but rather to create a working model for future researchers to use as a guide for more detailed studies in their chosen specialties or in more restricted regions. Although this study is based on available Soviet data, the data are approached and interpreted in a context not usually accepted by Soviet geologists. First, a data base is collected and discussed, then the Southern Urals are divided into tectonostratigraphic terranes in a manner similar to Jones and Silberling (1980). Each terrane is then interpreted in terms of depositional environments consistent with the new global tectonics. Divisions of the Urals used by Soviet researchers have been retained in several instances, however, additional terranes have also been defined. Using information presented, a model is then described, the followed by a discussion of the viability and advantages of the proposed plate tectonic model.

The Ural Mountains are located in the Soviet Union between longitude 55° - 66° E and latitude 48° - 77° N (Figure 1). This complex orogenic zone ranges from Novaya Zemlya in the north to the region of the Caspian and Aral seas in the south. The southern terminus of the Urals is



Figure 1. Location of study area. Outlines of major regions are shown. Box outline marks location of Figure 3. Dotted line is Arctic Circle.

Figure 2. Subdivision of the Ural Mountains (according to Ivanov et al., 1975).



buried under Cenozoic age sediments. The Ural Mountains are divided into five segments, the Polar, North, Middle, South, and Kazakh Urals (Figure 2) by the Russians. This study concentrates primarily on the Southern Urals and adjacent portions of Kazakhstania and the Russian and Siberian platforms (Figure 1).

PREVIOUS SOVIET WORK

Horizontal tectonics are not completely unknown in the Soviet literature; thrusts, thrust faulting, and allochthonous masses are becoming more widely accepted and utilized in Soviet geologic interpretations. The use of overthrusts seems acceptable, although full scale subduction has appeared in the geologic literature only recently (Ruzhentsev and Samygin, 1979). The Sakmara region, Southern Urals (Figure 3), has been reconstructed using lateral motion of lithospheric "blocks" (Figure 4: Ruzhentsev et al., 1977), creating a model very similar to published works on the Appalachians. In comparing the Urals and Appalachians, Peyve (1973) describes the Polar Urals as having a very complete geologic section, as does the end of the Appalachians. (Newfoundland) northern The southern regions of both mountain chains are less complete. The ophiolites in both ranges are understood by Peyve (1973) to be tectonically emplaced; Peyve (1973) further suggests a global synchronism of principal tectonic stages of crustal development. The correlation of the Urals and Appalachians by Peyve (1973) provides details on the Urals and invites application of a new interpretation to the information provided.

Ivanov et al. (1975) describe a model of evolution which includes many plate tectonic concepts. In their model the Russian platform, Central Kazakhstania, and the

Figure 3. Terranes of the Southern Urals. For location of map see Figure 1.







Figure 4. Tectonic development of the Sakmara trough. From Ruzhentsev and Samygin (1979).

Siberian platform represented one large craton during Vendian to Early Cambrian time. Breakup of the continent began in the Late Cambrian to Early Ordovician followed by development of oceanic crust in the intervening rift as evidenced by extensional features and a parallel (sheeted) dike complex with an accumulation of tholeiitic basalts and siliceous slate deposits. Rifting continued until Early Silurian time when spreading ceased, subsequent closure of the ocean emplaced compressional tectonic structures and diapiric ultramafics (Ivanov et al., 1975). This reconstruction obviously indicates a mode of formation for the obducted ophiolites currently observed in the geologic record.

Ruzhentsev and Samygin (1979) have also created a model of evolution for the Uralian region. Their mode of formation for the Urals is based on compression following Uralian extension that created a proto-ocean. This proto-ocean existed in the Late Riphean with closure beginning in the Vendian due to the initiation of westward dipping subduction. Early Ordovician rifting created a microcontinent which separated the Sakmara region from the ocean. A Late Ordovician spreading center created basaltic magmas. Spreading centers continued to exist into the Silurian with three separate spreading centers being recognized. Upper Silurian volcanics (spilites and diabases) were quite common as several central-type volcanoes existed. Silurian spreading centers continued

into the Devonian. Island-arc development was extensive during the Devonian as arcs developed in zones this study has defined as the Magnitogorsk and Bredy terranes (Figure 3). Between these arcs, thoeliites were developed. The Bredy arc produced extensive calc-alkaline volcanism.

World-wide Paleozoic continental reconstructions that cover the Urals have been published by various authors (McElhinny, 1973; Ziegler et al., 1977; Morel and Irving, 1978; Scotese et al., 1979; Ziegler, 1981). Hamilton (1970) dealt expressly with the Urals and associated regions and this has served as the first order horizontal plate tectonic model for that part of the world. Since that time, much new data have been made accessible to the west, filling the sometimes acknowledged, often present, data gaps and Hamilton's (1970) main creating a need for a new analysis. concept involves two continents colliding as an intervening oceanic plate subducted beneath them. Many of the features expected in a suture zone (Dewey and Bird, 1970; Ziegler et al., 1977; Fujita, 1978) are described by Hamilton, however, many of the processes described are unsubstantiated, i.e., using mountain chains with symmetric geology on either side to infer the presence of a continent-continent collision.

According to Hamilton (1970), the Russian subcontinent had a stable eastern margin with and island-arc located away from the continent during the Ordovician and Silurian periods. Subduction under this arc was dipping away from the Russian continent; such a geometry would demand the island-arc to be located on a separate plate. This arc collided with the continent in Early Devonian time with the suture zone being the Main Uralian Fault. The

eugeosynclinal region was elevated and produced sediments which were deposited in the Devonian foreland basin adjacent to the Russian platform. A new west-dipping subduction zone developed oceanward of the accreted arc during the Middle to Late Devonian to accommodate continental convergence. This subduction continued until at least Early Permian. Oceanic sediments were scraped off the crust as subduction continued and the trench axis stepped oceanward, as did the main belt of calc-alkaline volcanism.

The Paleozoic of the western margin of Siberia was primarily a subduction zone with the Russian and Siberian plates colliding in Permian time.

Ziegler (1981) presents a series of figures which outline the paleogeographic movements of continents. Kazakhstania, Siberia, and Baltica (Russian plate) were widely separated in the Middle Ordovician. The Middle Silurian shows the plates coming closer with Laurentia also in close proximity. By late Early Devonian, Laurentia had become Laurussia as Laurentia and Baltica sutured. Kazakhstania joined with the Siberian plate by middle Late Carboniferous. Early Late Permian shows Kazakhstania (now sutured to Siberia) colliding with Baltica (now Laurussia). No suture is shown between Baltica and Siberia.

DATA SOURCES

The data for this thesis are taken from translations of Soviet literature and maps, consequently it entails the use of judgement to discern fact from interpretation. Often, interpretations are given as data based on the assumption that vertical tectonics control the situation.

Metamorphic rocks are often dated as Precambrian in the Soviet literature based on their metamorphic grade and the assumption that intense metamorphism has not taken place in the Phanerozoic. Radiometric dating has been done by many individuals and by the Academy of Sciences, U.S.S.R. The age data given, however, are often K-Ar dates and may not be consistent with the geology. Thus, care must be taken that the numbers are compatible with the geology. It must further be considered that the tectonic movements may create a situation where overlying rocks are older than the rocks beneath them.

Ophiolite complexes have been extensively studied in the past 15-20 years and the Soviets have also made their contributions to this field. There are some Soviet geologists who believe ophiolites were once related to the oceanic crust. Peyve et al. (1977) describe both ophiolites and ocean floor as developing over a long time period accompanied by horizontal movements along various surfaces within the lithosphere. Others consider ophiolites special metamorphic formations (Lennykh et al., 1978), while still

others, not necessarily Russian, suggest they are extrusive structures that have been rotated 90° to place the sheeted dike complex in a vertical orientation (Thayer, 1977). These different interpretations are easily reinterpretable to provide useful information.

IDENTIFICATION OF TECTONOSTRATIGRAPHIC TERRANES

Soviet subdivision of the Urals is found to correlate, for the most part, to western concepts of terranes. For this reason, some Soviet divisions have been utilized in this study; however, in several cases new terranes have been (i.e., Bredy, Turgay) to isolate regions with defined similar tectonostratigraphic evolutions. The Bredy terrane is the region the Soviet literature usually refers to as the West Magnitogorsk. Although the Soviets divide the west slope of the Urals into many zones, the east slope is usually treated as a single zone. In this study we separate the Soviet East Ural zone into three terranes, the Bredy, the East Ural, and the Turgay. Nine separate terranes are identified by this study; a list of these regions, arranged west to east is as follows (Figures 3 and 5):

- a. Ufa-Bashkir terrane
- b. Zilar terrane
- c. Uraltau terrane
- d. Sakmara terrane
- e. Magnitogorsk terrane
- f. Bredy terrane
- g. Terranes of the East Urals
- h. Turgay terrane
- i. Ishim terrane

Figure 5. Division of the Southern Urals. Abbreviation of terranes: UB - Ufa-Bashkir; Z - Zilair; UT - Uraltau; S - Sakmara; M - Magnitogorsk; B - Bredy; EU - East Ural; T - Turgay; IS - Ishim. Other abbreviation: K -Krak Massif. The Krak Massif is interpreted as being part of the Sakmara terrane.





The Turgay terrane is covered by the same mantle of sediments as the West Siberian Lowlands but is identified independently because of its unique subsurface lithology.

The geologic time scale adopted for this study (Figure periods time 6) is taken from used in the Lithological-Paleogeographical Atlas of the U.S.S.R. (Vinogradov, 1968, 1969). Absolute dates are from van Eysinga (1978).

Figure 6. Geologic time scale. Breakdown of time periods used in this study. Absolute dates from van Eysinga (1978). Periods subdivided into those used by Vinogradov et al. (1968, 1969).

	period	Ma	:
	TRIASSIC	230	
	PERMIAN	280	Tatarian Ufimian & Kazanian Artinskian & Kungurian Asselian & Sakmarian
	CARBONIFEROUS	345	L. Carboniferous Moscovian Bashkirian Namurian Visean Tournasian
P ALEO ZOI C	DEVONIAN	375	Famennian Frasnian Gevitian Eifelian Early Devonian
	SILURIAN	435	Tiwer Ludlow Wenlock Llandovery
	ORDOVICIAN	500	Late Middle Early
	CAMBRIAN	570	Late Cambrian Majian Amginian Lenian Aldanian
PRECAMBRIAN			Vendian Late Riphean Middle Riphean Early Riphean

UFA-BASHKIR TERRANE

The Ufa region (Figures 3 and 5) is semi-circular in shape, whereas most Uralian structures are linear. It is bounded on the east by the Bashkir terrane (Figures 3 and 5) and to the west by the Russian platform. The Bashkir terrane extends under the Cenozoic cover of the Russian platform. Data from a drill hole located 12 km southwest of Nyazepetrovsk 5) shows the geologic column (Figure consisting of limestone and dolomite capped by a formation of sandstone, limestone, and shale with a basal conglomerate (Figure 7). Paleontologic ages of these rocks show a complete section of Upper Devonian to Upper Bashkirian (C2) (Figure 6) rocks. Underlying the above rocks, at a depth of 2000 m limestone and dolomite of Visean (C_1) through Frasnian (D₃) age rocks were encountered (Seliverstov et al., 1971). This lower group of carbonates is similar to the overlying limestones and dolomites. The two groups are interpreted to have been part of the same formation that have subsequently been thrust into their present positions. Based on these kinds of data Smirnov and Bellavin (1974) describe this region as a thrust region and delineate three separate thrust plates: First sheet - Silurian-Devonian carbonates (as discussed previously). Second sheet - the Bardym suite, consisting of Ordovician mafic rocks intruded by serpentinite, pyroxene and gabbro. These rocks are overlain by Late Ordovician-Silurian siliceous shale. This

				_			_		_		
	time			Zilair			Hayrita- Garak	Bredy	E. Ural	Tur ga y	Uleteu
	Tiwer		02/sz					یکرور ا			02/ PC
	Ludiou					****		2×E	015C		%€
S	Wartack.			1				we ave	\$2 /m2		°3/2
	Liend.					æ I					
		_				~ ~					
											•••••
	.			ł						1	
	Ord.							/ / / /			
0			• • • • • • • •		1.7.2.1						
ł	E.		1		ł	WW				1	
	Ord.					* **					
			 			57		0,709			
	Mellen				1	Γ					<u> </u>
	Ameielan										
			02	02/						1	
	Lonias		/m3	1/1,					4		
€				9,		02,					
				1/10.		/ ~,				1	
				+		+		••••		+	<u>لا مت ا</u>
1	1		F		1	1			1	1	1
			= = :							1	
	Vendien				1					-	
								••••	• •••••		
1			H	- <u>-</u>		Τ					
	L		F. . .					<u></u>		1	
	Riph.		H		3			= = :			
		•									
			T			+		Filli			1
150			E	9			1		F	1	1X
		IT		-	1	1	1	= -	+	1	122
	Riph.		⊨	4			1	<u></u>		1	K.
	1	1000				1	1	<u>v</u> v_v	1	1	122
	—			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ł		_			<u>.</u>	1111
	E.	Ι⊥	E	9	1	<u> </u>		<u> []</u>	₩₩		
		I	E	2	1		2			7	

Figure 7. Geologic columns of the Southern Urals.

•

	time		Boshidr	Ziloir			goral	Brody	E. Urel	Tungay	Ulufou
	Tatorion	-	7472	-							
	Utimion	_	-								61 - I
Р	Assel.	-									
1000	L. Carb	_	-	-00AY6	-		1.1		_		eres a
	E 11	0	1.11	8.15	1		2 - 2				
							<u><u></u></u>				1
							1.1			?	m.m.a
					-	-				41/C.	
	Dostarun	-	1	-	-	-			-	1 - 2	
	-	1.12	-		103	1013	1,1				
			<u> </u>				12	1.1.	?	2.22	
С	1.11					H	11				
	1						1-1-				
	1.11	1.1	0.51	-	0.13		1 4	010	(110)	1	1
							Ť,Ť				1
	1.11			11		994	111			5.5	
	Visean			11			+ +	2	11		
	1.31	- 19	111		1-2		1 4	110	ÉÉ	1.1.	12
		-	HT.		-	PT-	10.				
							Lun				
	Tourn.			h			1.1		1.1.1		
	1	-	11		-		1				1
	1										H-
								1		-	ET.
	Famern.		1			2				* * *	H
	1		h			1			fare from		ЬÓ
				<u></u>							
	1		1	H		1	1			1	1
	And I		1			1	1			1	1
	-		1					1			1
	-				1.1		11	1		1 1	
			1						?	?	
			1-1-			É.	£		1		
		-	P	111	-	+		1	-	+	
		0	0101	131							14
D	1						-	1			200
	1.1		1			1	3.3			1	5.5
	1		1			1		+ + +		1.1	1
	Givetion		lin	1.1		111	111		111	1	50
	1		-			122	1.11	1 ?	1 ?	1 ?	1.5
		-	1		-	-	¥ ± ¥	1	1	-	1
							4.44				1
							1.74		1.		1
	Elfelian	1.1	10	0.01			1-1-		1		1
	-	-	-1 1-	1	-	F	* + *	1.1.1	4 4	1 ?	-
						1					
						1					0.
	I.	Ť	1			1 -	1	1	1	1	12
			1	1		1.	1	1			1
	Dev.	1000	•			1					1"
			1		1	1-		1	1	1	1
		1	100	h		-	1.1.	1	1	1	1
			1	ΗÞ		1	1			1	1
				P-P-		1-	× + *	55			



Figure 7a. Geologic symbols.
suite has several exposed gabbro bodies, the contacts of which dip toward the center with depth. Third sheet -Ordovician rocks in a gently dipping thrust over Devonian rocks. A geologic description of these rocks is not found in the Soviet literature. The direction of thrusting is east to west (Smirnov and Bellavin, 1974). This sequence may be interpreted as an initially passive margin where oceanic crust has been thrust onto platform carbonates, due to compressive forces, sometime after carbonate deposition.

ZILAIR TERRANE

The Zilair terrane, in the Southern Urals, is located to the east of the Bashkir region and to the west of the Uraltau terrane (Figure 3). The northern terminus of this zone is at the Krak massif (Figure 5). The geologic column for the Zilair terrane (Figure 7 and 8) shows a Riphean to Vendian sandstone and shale complex. Middle Ordovician sandstone and shale is separated from the Vendian rocks by an uncomformity (Vinogradov, 1968, 1969; Kamaletdinov, 1961). An unconformity between the Vendian and Middle Ordovician rocks appears as the most reasonable solution.

Devonian limestone (about 200 m) is overlain by the Zilair slate/shale of Famennian (D_3) to Tournasian (C_1) age, which has a maximum thickness of 400 m (Khat'yanov, 1976). Sediment transport was east to west during the Famennian (D₃) deposition of the Zilair formation, yielding sandstone in the east and siltstone in the west (Smirnov and Smirnova, 1960). Stratigraphically above the Zilair formation is Carboniferous Early Permian flysch and molasse (Kamaletdinov, 1961). No Precambrian crystalline basement is evidenced in the Soviet literature for this region. Kamaletdinov (1961) lists a metamorphic schist, Cambrian in age, as the basement for the east side and a period of erosion or nondeposition for the west. This region, based on lithology, can be interpreted as a passive continental margin which is overlain by siliceous sediments of a

Figure 8. Geologic columns of the Southern Urals. Select summary columns where adjoining columns represent the terrane listed as the heading of the left column. Left column is data taken from the Atlas (Vinogradov, et al., 1969). Right column provides additional information, where available from other sources. Numbers are thickness in meters.

ï

	Bredy		E. Ural		Turgoy	
Permian						
Carboniferous	• • − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − − −				ン 	
Devonian	•··++ •··++ •··+ •··+ •··+ •··+ •··+ •·				500+	
Silurian	hia tu s		200		V V V V 900	oceonic crustal basement
Ordovician						
C ambrian						
Precombrion	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		00000000000000000000000000000000000000			

Figure 8.

Figure 9. Geologic columns of the Southern Urals. Symbols as in Figure 8.

.

	Zilar		Sakmara		Magnitogorsk	
Permion		molasse				molasse
Carboniferous		flysch				
Devonian			<pre>/! °(= *) ' /! °(= *) ' / ? °(= *) ' / ? °(= *) ' / ? °(= *) ' ? ' ? ' ? ' ? ' ? ' ? ' ? ' ? ' ? ' ?</pre>	Shanda grp plistostrom		Ziloir suite
Silurion				spilite, diabase, chert, tuff		oceonic crust
Ordovicion	600					
Cambrian		meta. schist	02 / Pt3	sondstone Bi orgillite		
Pre combrion	2900		<u>v v v v v</u> <u>v v v v v</u> v v v v v 800	uttromafic Bi gabbro		

Figure 9.

transgressing sea or an inactive marginal basin. A Late Carboniferous turbidite sequence indicates the final stage of shallower water continental sedimentation.

URALTAU TERRANE

In the Southern Urals, the Uraltau terrane is located between the Zilair and Sakmara terranes. The west slope of the Middle and Northern Urals is often also called the Uraltau region in the Soviet literature. The terrane is composed primarily of metamorphic rocks which were during the obduction of the metamorphosed Sakmara Ultramafic. These schists have been dated as Lower and Middle Riphean (Alekseyev, 1976), however this age is probably assigned on the basis of metamorphic grade, rather than by analysis of regional geology. The rocks to the east are part of the Sakmara terrane, but to the west of the Uraltau schists are Silurian age rocks in conformable contact, indicating the Precambrian age is erroneous.

The Uraltau terrane was the eastern-most edge of the passive margin of the Russian platform. The terrane originated by the horizontal stresses of the subduction located to the east. This stress is evidenced by the predominantly metamorphic rocks: quartzite, schist, gneiss, eclogite, and marble all of which are folded into large scale folds.

SAKMARA TERRANE

The Sakmara zone (Figure 3) is usually included as the western edge of the Magnitogorsk megasynclinorium, but is here treated as a separate unit because of its unique geologic makeup and tectonic mode of formation. It is generally agreed the northern part of the Sakmara zone is 20 to 30 km wide, with the southern portion increasing in width. Length of the Sakmara terrane ranges from 200 km (Ruzhentsev, 1972) to 400 km (Kamaletdinov and Kazantseva, The southern terminus is located just south of the 1978). city of Orsk (Figure 3); it is the northern boundary that is disputed. According to Ruzhentsev (1972) the Sakmara zone (Figure ends at Beloretsk 3), but Kamaletdinov and Kazantseva (1978) suggest it continues to parallel the Magnitogorsk terrane northward to the city of Miass (Figure 5). The Soviet geologic maps (1:1,500,000, 1972: 1:1,250,000, 1965) indicate no such continuation. This study defines the Sakmara as ending about the region of Miass, with the southern terminus extending farther south than either Ruzhenstev (1972) or Kamaletdinov and Kazantseva (1978) indicate. For this reason, the terrane is about 500 km long. This definition of the Sakmara terrane is employed since the southern area is most similar to the Sakmara terrane, and less closely related to surrounding terranes.

Various terminology has been applied to the Sakmara region which has resulted in confusion. Sakmara zone is a

general term often used by Russian authors to define a region that has no universally accepted boundaries. This "zone", at some time in history, was covered by water and therefore is referred to as the Sakmara basin. This study has utilized three additional terms in an attempt to clarify the situation with definite boundaries. The Sakmara terrane is an area designed to fit the definition of the word terrane (see Figure 5 for boundaries). The Sakmara allochthon is the discontinuous west arm of the Sakmara terrane of which the Krak massif is the northern exposure. The Sakmara ultramafic is the east arm of the Sakmara terrane (Figure 3).

The geologic column (Figure 8) for the Sakmara region shows the base to be Cambrian to Early Ordovician subarkosic sandstones and argillites of the Kidryasovo suite (Pospelov and Ruzhentsev, 1972) overlying gabbroic and ultramafic rocks (Khvorova et al., 1975) presumed to be oceanic crust. Overlying the sandstones and argillites is а terrigenous-cherty-tuffaceous sequence, now in a vertical section, originally consisted of Early Ordovician to Early Silurian mudstones and siltstones of the Kurgan group in the west and the Kos Istek formation in the east. The Kos Istek formation is divisible into the Late Ordovician to Early Silurian Guberlinskii group of tuff, jasper, and acid and basic volcanics and the overlying tuffaceous sequence of the Kos Istek group (Khvorova et al., 1975).

The Ordovician rocks are overlain by a Silurian

volcanic-cherty complex which is composed of five groups of rocks: (west to east) the Sakmara group, Khersonkovskii group, Baiterekskii group, Blyavenskii group, and the Sugrala group. The Sakmara and Khersonkovskii groups are primarily limestone, chert, and flysch while the other groups are chiefly spilite, diabase, chert, and tuff. This section can be interpreted as an oceanic sedimentary section.

An olistostromal sequence (Shanda group) dated Early Devonian to Eifelian (D_2) consists of conglomerate and sandstone with limestone and chert, and basalt and tuff. The Shanda group better fits the geologic column if the strata discussed above form a system of very intricately folded tectonic plates (Pospelov and Ruzhentsev, 1972). Kamaletdinov and Kazantseva (1978) have redefined the age of a Visean (C_1) limestone and basic and intermediate volcanic sequence as Devonian age. These rocks may be interpreted as an oceanic sequence with the overlying Shanda group representing a turbidite from a then present shelf edge.

Structurally the Sakmara terrane is a homoclinal thrust sheet where Zilair suite (D_3) graywackes are thrust from the east over Late Tournasian (C_1) to Early Visean (C_2) limestones (Kamaletdinov and Kazantseva, 1978). Using available data these Zilair suite rocks can be correlated to the Zilair suite in the Magnitogorsk terrane, however, they no longer lie in proper stratigraphic succession. The Zilair suite rocks cover large thrust sheets and extrusive

and siliceous rocks of the Betrya suite along with ultramafics that "intrude" the sequence (Smirnov and Bellavin, 1974). The Betrya suite may be interpreted as an ophiolite sequence. The western boundary of the thrust sheet is the ultramafic belt that extends from Orsk to Beloretsk (the Miass-Sakmara deep fault, Figure 5). To the east the boundary is buried under the Irendyk formation (see Magnitogorsk section) of the Magnitogorsk zone. Levitan (1978) interprets these andesite-basalt volcanics as the result of an island-arc stage during the Late Silurian and Early Devonian.

MAGNITOGORSK TERRANE

The Magnitogorsk terrane (Figure 3), South Urals, is bounded on the west by the Sakmara zone, a region often considered as part of the Magnitogorsk terrane by some Soviet authors, but identified as a separate terrane in this paper. To the west lies the Bredy terrane (Figure 3), a region usually included as the west side of the Magnitogorsk region. A separate geologic column has been compiled for the Bredy zone (Figure 9).

In the Soviet literature the Magnitogorsk terrane is often referred to as the Magnitogorsk synclinorium or megasynclinorium. These two terms, by definition, are not equivalent (see Appendix B) creating confusion about the size of the region. The Tagil zone (Figure 13), Central Urals. often considered a continuation is of the Magnitogorsk zone by some Soviet authors, but Ivanov et al. (1973) state that Tagil is not a structural continuation, but rather a tectonic juxtaposition. Khalevin et al. (1969) point out that the Paleozoic section joining the Magnitogorsk and Tagil terranes does not thicken toward the center (by deep seismic sounding (DSS) data) as a continuous syncline should, and further there is not consistent change in outcrop age.

The geologic column of the Magnitogorsk terrane shows no rocks older than Early Devonian (Figure 8). These Early Devonian rocks are basic and basic spilite-keratophyre

volcanics extending through the Eifelian (D_2) where they are overlain by Givetian (D_2) limestone and acid and basic volcanics. The overlying Frasnian (D_3) sequence consists of acid volcanics, pebbles, sand, and shale which is overlain by Famennian (D_3) sand and shale. This sequence can be interpreted as an island-arc environment with volcanism ending in the Frasnian (D_3) , followed by a coarse clastic sedimentation grading into shale sedimentation. During the Tournasian (C_1), rejuvenation of volcanism deposited acid basic volcanics which grade Visean and into (C₁) intermediate and basic volcanics with limestone, Namurian (C_2) limestone, Bashkirian (C_2) sand and gravel, and Moscovian (C2) limestone. These rocks may be interpreted as more mature volcanics and andesites grading into a platform sequence of limestones that was interrupted by a clastic sequence. Smirnov and Smirnova (1960)describe the Magnitogorsk as containing volcanic sedimentary sequences of sedimentary rock, tuff, and tuff-breccia alternating with sheets and flows of silicic , mafic, and intermediate extrusives. Among these rocks is the Irendyk formation (D_2) that Levitan (1978) interprets as part of as island-arc The Karamaltash series of the Eifelian stage. (D₂) (Gorokhov et al., 1962) age basaltoid rocks have differentiation products analogous to sodic rhyolites and dacites of present ocean basins (Na_2O/K_2O ratio greater than 4 to 5) (Ivanov et al., 1975). The Zilar suite is a Famennian (D_3) to Early Tournasian (C_1) (Arzhavitina, 1976) volcanic and

clastic formation (Prokin and Ogarinov, 1975) which, in the western Magnitogorsk region (Bredy terrane) becomes 500-1300 of entirely flyschoid sediments (Arzhavitina, m 1976). Prokin and Ogarinov (1975) describe Silurian а spilite-diabase sequence (which may correlate to Early Devonian on the geologic column, Figure 7) which have high TiO, content (1.3-1.7%), similar to ocean basalts, have a large areal extent, are low in pyroclastics and are associated with siliceous sediments. Such а geologic description can be interpreted as indicating a deep sea origin at a spreading center or a marginal basin.

The spatial migration of volcanic belts from west to east (Prokin and Ogarinov, 1975) is supported by a plot of andesite locations (Figure 10) in the Paleozoic taken from the <u>Lithological-Paleogeographical Atlas of the U.S.S.R.</u> This migration of andesites may be suggestive of the direction and sequencing of events of the Uralian subduction complex.

TERRANES OF THE EASTERN URALS

The East Ural zone (Figure 3) is defined by the Soviets to extend from the Southern to the northermost Urals. Unlike the west slope, it is seldom broken into subdivisions by the Soviets. On the basis of geologic evidence presented in Figure 5, it is apparent that the East Ural zone should be subdivided into at least three terranes: the Bredy, lying just east of the Magnitogorsk terrane , the East Ural, forming the core of the East Ural zone, and the Turgay, which extends under the sedimentary cover of the West Siberian Lowlands. Between the Turgay terrane and Kazakhstania proper, the existence of another terrane, the Ishim, may be postulated.

The Bredy terrane is separated from the East Ural terrane by a band of granites and ultramafics while the Turgay terrane has a lithology distinct from the East Ural terrane until Tournasian (C_1) time (Figures 7 and 9). Data from the Turgay terrane are sparse and consist mainly of exposures along rivers and data from drill holes.

The Turgay terrane can be interpreted as having oceanic crustal basement overlain by Early Devonian basic volcanics. These rocks are overlain by Givetian (D₂) and younger clastics and carbonates with occasional interbedded acid volcanics and andesites.

The East Ural terrane has Ludlow (S_2) age basic volcanics overlain by Tiwer (S_2) basic spilite-keratophyre

volcanics. Volcanism ceased with Eifelian (D_2) and Givetian (D_2) basic volcanics; thereafter minor deposition of andesite volcanics interrupted platform type deposition. During the Tournasian (C_1) the Bredy, East Ural, and Turgay terranes formed an east-to-west sequence that fined to the west. Pebbles, sand, and shale cap Bredy terrane volcanics, with the last volcanics being Namurian (C_2) andesites in the Turgay terrane.

To the east of the Turgay terrane is the Ishim terrane, completely covered by Mesozoic and Cenozoic sediments, which has been defined through the existence of Visean and Namurian (C_2) age volcanic deposits. These rocks are primarily andesites and a graph of the location of them is included as Figure 10. These andesites were the primary basis for the definition of the Ishim terrane.

Precambrian rocks exposed in the southernmost portion of the East Ural terrane have been interpreted as material rifted from the Russian Platform (Ruzhentsev, 1972). Comparison of the lithology of these two regions (Figure 7) show the rocks to be dissimilar and therefore the origin of the East Ural terrane should not be interpreted as one of rifting from the Russian Platform.



Figure 10. Distribution of andesites in time and space. Dotted lines represent boundaries between terranes.

- **•** Ordovician
- 8 Silurian
- Early Devonian
- Late Devonian
- **X** Carboniferous

The West Siberian Lowlands have been well described by various authors (Tamrazyan, 1971; Kosygin and Parfenov, 1975; Bazanov et al., 1976; Rudkevich, 1976; Meyerhoff, 1980), consequently only selected information will be discussed. No granitic crystalline basement is reported in the Soviet geologic literature. The Triassic to Recent sedimentary mantle that covers the Lowlands is 8-12 km thick (Kulikov et al., 1972; Bochkarev and Rudkevich, 1975) with the deepest region being the Yenisey-Khatanga trough (Kosygin and Parfenov, 1975).

Data from a drill hole near the center of the Lowlands shows a porphyry and tuff-lava formation, with quartz stringers, at a depth of 3000 m dated by the comparative birefringence dispersion method (on plagioclase) as 326 ± 6 Ma (Early Carboniferous) (Bochkarev and Pogorelov, 1968).

Seismic reflection and refraction data shows an intermediate zone exists between the mantle of sediments covering the Lowlands and the basaltic basement. This zone varies in thickness from 2 to 4 km and has folds where limbs dip 2°- 6° (Bochkarev and Rudkevich, 1975). Trofimuk et al. (1973) suggest the intermediate zone is up to 10 km thick and contains oil and gas. A seismic profile has been interpreted by Krylov et al. (1973) suggesting reflecting boundaries at 4-5 km, 20-23 km and the Moho at 40 km. Seismic P-wave velocities are: 5.8 km/sec for layer 2, 6.2

km/sec for layer 3 and 8.0 km/sec below the Moho.

Based on seismic and drill hole data, the West Siberian Lowlands can be interpreted as a region devoid of a granitic crust. Mesozoic and Cenozoic sediments fill the region floored by oceanic crust which exists due to cessation of subduction, prior to continent-continent collision, in the Late Paleozoic.

KAZAKHSTANIA TERRANE

Kazakhstania (Figure 1) is presently located east of the Southern Urals and is composed of several different structural-stratigraphic units (Figure 11). Koshkin (1969) divides Kazakhstania into eastern and western sections separated by the Central Kazakhstan strike-slip fault which runs northward from the east end of Lake Balkash and is proposed to be part of a strike-slip fault that extends from south of India to Northern Siberia. Antonyuk et al. (1977) provide a more practical division which runs along the eastern slope of the Kokchetav and Ulutau (Figure 11) regions creating the Kokchetav block and the Balkash region (which includes the Karatau region (Figure 11)). This study further divides the eastern Kokchetav region into the Kokchetav, Teniz and Ulutau regions (Figure 11).

The Kokchetav and Ulutau regions have granitic crust which is Riphean in age based on radiometric dates of .95-1.2 Ga on granite-gneiss zircon and 1.2-1.4 Ga on metamorphic zircon (Pavlova, 1978). The present crust of the Kokchetav region is thick (50-55 km) where 35 km of that thickness is attributed to the basaltic layer (Rozen et al., 1974; Rozen, 1977) based on deep seismic sounding (DSS) data. These features are not seen in the Teniz basin, rather, an intense magnetic anomaly, relatively low gravity values, thin crustal layer (35 km) and a thin basaltic layer are observed (Zeylik and Seymuratova, 1974). Based on DSS

Figure 11. Terranes of Kazakhstania. Dashed lines are inferred boundaries of terranes.



Figure 11.

data Zeylik and Seymuratova (1974) infer the existence of a 200 km diameter upward bulge in the Moho and Conrad discontinuities. Soviet authors have interpreted this region as an uplift, a downwarp and as a meteorite impact structure, however an alternative interpretation is that the region lacks continental crust and is therefore a "hole", currently filled with Cenozoic sediments, to the basalt layer.

Ophiolites are found on the west edge of the Ulutau region and the north and northwest edge of the Kokchetav region. Abdulin et al. (1974) suggest these ophiolites are Riphean in age, while surrounding eclogite is dated at 1.35 Ga (no specific method of age dating is provided). Ophiolites of the Kokchetav region are dated by Rozen (1977) at 1 Ga. In an alternative model, Zonenshayn (1973) suggests these ophiolites were emplaced during the closing of the Uralian suture; coincident with this closure was the formation of a marginal basin in the area of what is now Central Kazakhstan. This marginal basin would provide a source for creation of an ophiolite.

Volcanics of the Ulutau region are rhyolites with high K_2O content suggesting a mature crust, however, effusive volcanics of this region seldom mature as far as andesites (Pavlova, 1979). Serpentinite bodies of the Ulutau are associated with amphibolite and/or greenschist facies metamorphism and are shattered and foliated where foliation planes dip 40°- 70° west (Pavlova, 1979). These westward

dipping foliations agree with the curvature of the island arc and transform faults in reconstructions published by Zonenshayn (1973). Westward dip of the foliations tends to indicate this region is on the east side of an orogen and low grade, mostly pressure metamorphism tends to indicate a compressional zone where, as first suggested by Zonenshayn (1973) and later supported by Ziegler et al. (1977) an incomplete collision took place creating a noticeable lack of high-grade metamorphism.

The seismic cross-section depicted in Figure 12 shows a break in the stratigraphy at the boundary of the Kokchetav region and the West Siberian Lowlands. This break may be interpreted as the edge of the Kokchetav craton and the compacted sediments of the Lowlands. Note the rise in the Moho discontinuity in the region of Petropavlovsk, which outlines the edge of the continental material.

The suturing of Kazakhstania and the Siberian plate occurred during the Early to Middle Cambrian. Southwestward subduction under Kazakhstania is inferred from the volcanic rocks in the geologic record according to Vinogradov (1968). Eastern Kazakhstania is outside the main area of this study but it is in itself an interesting study which should be conducted.



TAGIL TERRANE

The Tagil terrane (Figure 13), often considered part of the Magnitogorsk megasynclinorium, encompasses most of the physical relief of the Middle and Northern Urals. The southern boundary is at the latitude of Sverdlovsk (Figure 13). The western boundary is marked by deep faults and the east by the Serov-Mauk ultramafic belt. The geology has been described by Khalevin and Chervanyakovskiy (1970) as three structural facies zones: the eastern Krasnoural'sk, the Middle, and the western Kabanka zones. The Krasnoural'sk zone is an andesite-basalt association dipping east 70°- 80° and is Ordovician to Llandoverian (S_2) in age. The Middle is of andesite-basalt, zone composed trachyandesite-basalt, tuff-flysch, and volcanic molasse dipping east 10° - 20° and Wenlockian (S₂) to Early Devonian (D1) in age. The Kabanka zone is a pyrite-bearing region much like the Krasnoural'sk region with a similar dip. This eastward dip, also noted by Karetin (1967), can be interpreted as indicating this region to be to the west of the axis of the zone of compression. Sokolov et al. (1974) describe the eastern regions to be thrust over the western In the central zone of the Tagil, Karetin (1967) zones. describes spilites (subalkaline basalts) interbedded with alkaline-poor diabase of Wenlockian (S₂) age.

A seismic reflection survey, in the Tagil zone, interpreted by Sokolov et al. (1974) shows a velocity



Figure 13. Central and Northern Urals. Outline of Tagil terrane and ultramafic Pomurskiy pluton.

section of the Central/Northern Urals at the latitude of (Figure 13). The survey line originates in the Ivel Pomurskiy gabbro pluton (Figure 13), listed on the Soviet geologic maps as an ultramafic, to the edge of the West Siberian Lowlands. Ultramafics appear at the base of the west side of the cross-section with overlying gabbro and granodiorite. These rocks dip east at about 30°. On the east side of the cross-section, volcanic and sedimentary rocks dip eastward but are heavily faulted. The fault pattern is similar to the shearing fault pattern observed in a melange. Sokolov et al. (1974) suggest the diorite and quartz-diorite intrusions piercing the gabbro appear to have been formed later than the rest of the region, as did the fault pattern located to the east.

POLAR URALS

The Polar Urals (Figure 1, 2, 14), being that section located north of latitude 64° N, provide a relatively complete geologic section with the most significant geologic feature being the Voykar ultramafic massif (Figure 14). These ultramafics, located between 64° N and 68° N, have a southeast strike which makes them coincident with the topographic expression of the Urals. Savel'yev and Savel'yev (1977) describe the massif as being 200 km long and divisible into three different rock series: (1) Khulga formation, the westernmost, is composed of garnet-zoisite amphiboles, (2) Payer formation of ultramafics, gabbro, and diabase, and (3) Lagorta formation of amphibolite and The massif is described as an isoclinal fold tonalite. overturned to the west or as an overthrust to the west (Lennykh et al., 1978; Bogdanov and Savel'yev, 1979) indicating that this structure is part of the western side The ultramafic-gabbro of а suture zone. ophiolite association of the Voykar zone has been described by Yazeva (1979) as a large marginal allochthon of ancient oceanic To the east, the ophiolite association is replaced crust. by a belt of tonalites, granodiorites and diorites that are comagmatic with Silurian-Devonian island-arc rocks that cap the section. A parallel (sheeted) dike complex, often indicative of ocean floor, is traceable for 150 km and varies in width from 1 to 3 km. The dikes, 0.5 to 1 m



Figure 14. Map of the Polar Urals. Dotted line represents the Arctic Circle.

thick, are metamorphosed to greenschist epidote-actinolite This metamorphism is attributed to compression at facies. the time of formation of the oceanic crust (Yazeva, 1979). Located to the west of the ophiolite are Paleozoic flysch and pelagic formations crumpled into recumbent folds forming tectonic sheets (Bogdanov and Savel'yev, 1979). Detritus from the ophiolite first appears in Visean (C_1) sediments. Farther to the west lies undeformed Riphean basement and Paleozoic platform sediments. The west edge of the ophiolite has high pressure metamorphic rocks, however no volcanics are seen with the metamorphosed flysch and pelagic formations. The east contact of the ophiolite has quartz-tonalite and diorite which have K-Ar dates of 375 Ma (Middle Devonian). Farther east the diorites are an Upper Devonian volcanic and tuffogenic formation which Bogdanov and Savel'yev (1979) classify as an island-arc association. To the east of the Voykar massif lies the Lesser Urals structural facies zone, an Ordovician eugeosyncline, composed of clastic-volcanogenic and carbonate bodies of Ordovician, Silurian, and Devonian ages capped by Carboniferous clastics.

The Polar Urals may be interpreted as representing the western side of a zone of compression. No zone of collision is observed, yet the features of the Polar Urals suggest their origin is due to a subduction complex.

PALEOMAGNETICS

Appendix A lists all paleopole data available in the sources consulted (see Appendix A). Each paleopole was then examined to determine if it was consistent with other data points from the same plate and time period. Inconsistent poles and poles which could not be unambiguously assigned to a specific plate were deleted from the data set. Remaining pole positions were averaged and polar wandering curves were constructed.

As can be seen in Figures A-2 through A-6, despite the scatter, the continents did collide and did so within the time frame suggested by this study's model.

The polar wandering curves plotted in this study can not be directly compared with those of McElhinny (1973) because McElhinny used a longer time increment which necessarily would yield a smoother curve.

TECTONIC EVOLUTION

Figure 15 summarizes the tectonic evolution of the Uralian region. Paleomagnetic data shows the Russian, the Siberian, and the then-fragmented Kazakhstanian plates to be widely separated by oceanic regions during most of the Precambrian. Kazakhstania was formed during the Riphean when the Kokchetav and Ulutau continents collided, forming the western region of Kazakhstania. An incomplete suture of these blocks left a region floored by oceanic crust, which was later filled with sediments (Teniz Basin). During the Early and Middle Cambrian the Eastern margin of Kazakhstania collided with the Siberian plate. This collision signified the termination of southwestward subduction under the eastern margin of Kazakhstania. No subduction occurred along the northern margin of Kazakhstania hence the Kokchetav region did not collide with the Siberian continent.

The Bashkir, Zilair, and Uraltau terrane are floored by granitic continental without intervening oceanic crust. On this basis it may be concluded that the edge of the Russian platform extends eastward to the west edge of the Sakmara terrane. The Sakmara and Magnitogorsk terranes are floored by oceanic crust which was created during the Silurian

period and later obducted onto the Russian platform. The driving mechanism for this obduction was a subduction complex located on the east side of the Sakmara terrane with subduction dipping westward beneath the Sakmara island-arc. This short-lived subduction zone created volcanics currently observed in the Sakmara terrane. Also contributing a horizontal component of motion was westward subduction under the Magnitogorsk island-arc. The Sakmara ultramafic was emplaced in the Late Devonian while the Krak massif and the rest of the Sakmara allochthon were emplaced during the final stages of closure of the ocean basin, no later than Early Carboniferous.

During the Eifelian (D₂) a brief period of subduction created andesite volcanism along the west margin of Kazakhstania. Also during this time andesite and basic volcanics of the Ishim terrane were generated as oceanic crust subducted eastward under Kazakhstania.

Shortly after the time of closure of the Sakmara back-arc basin, subduction ceased under the Magnitogorsk arc and initiated farther east, along the boundary between the Turgay and Ishim terranes. This west dipping subduction continued until Late Visean or Early Namurian time when subduction ended with final closure of the ocean basin. All volcanism had ended by the end of the Namurian.

By Late Carboniferous the Zilair terrane was a terrestrial region with carbonates being deposited between this terrane and the East Ural volcanic arc. This signifies

a post-orogenic environment existed for the western part of the study area.

Shaley limestone deposition occurred in the Turgay terrane while sand and shale deposition took place in the Bashkir terrane. During the Permian period, all orogenic activity ceased and erosion of elevated land areas commenced.
Figure 15. Synthesis of reconstruction. Cartoons depict stages of development for the Riphean (R), Cambrian (C), Early Silurian (S₁), Early Devonian (D₁), Late Devonian (D₃), Early Carboniferous (C₁), Late Carboniferous (C₃) and Permian (P). Identification of terranes is as follows: R- Russian Platform; UB-Ufa-Bashkir; Z- Zilair; UT- Uraltau; S- Sakmara; M-Magnitogorsk; B- Bredy; EU- East Ural; T- Turgay; IS-Ishim; K- Kazakhstania; SP- Siberian Platform. Basement identification as follows: vvvvvv - continental ///// - oceanic



Figure 15.





DISCUSSION

The model proposed here differs from previous studies in several respects. Unlike Hamilton (1970), we suggest that Baltica and Siberia never fully collided and that oceanic crust continued to separate Baltica, Siberia and Kazakhstania when relative convergence ceased in the Middle Carboniferous, a date earlier than suggested by Hamilton.

One of the major differences between this study's model and the model of Hamilton (1970) lies in the amount and direction of subduction complexes utilized. This study suggests only westward dipping subduction with two jumps in location of the subduction. Hamilton (1970) uses several subduction complexes with direction of subduction flipping from east to west or west to east creating geometry that becomes unnecessarily complex. In some instances, these complexities are not confirmed, nor denied, by the observed geology and in other cases the suggested tectonics are possible, however a simple model is usually the preferred The question of feasibility is not easily explanation. solved. There is no definitive solution to the evolution of the Urals, only a most probable model. This study has proposed a model that is as simple as possible without omitting information present in the geologic record.

Additional subduction zones dipping various directions could be added since there is no evidence for or against their existence, however such is unsupported conjecture.

model of Ruzhentsev and Samygin The (1979)(see Previous Soviet Work) suggest subduction originating in This subduction created Middle Ordovician Vendian time. volcanism and Late Ordovician oceanic crustal spreading in the Sakmara zone. Several of these spreading centers exist in the model of Ruzhentsev and Samygin (1979) and they are described as spreading centers similar to those currently observed at mid-ocean ridges. These spreading centers and the expansive Sakmara trough are weak points in the model of Ruzhentsev and Samygin (1979). They have been included wherever spilites are observed and the size of the large Sakmara trough/spreading center is a matter of debate since direct measurements are not available. The amount of oceanic crustal material generated in the episode of Sakmara spreading is on the order of that generated in back-arc spreading rather than the larger scale normally observed in The Sakmara trough is required to be mid-ocean ridges. larger in the model of Ruzhentsev and Samygin (1979) to accommodate the model geometry. This study's model utilizes back-arc spreading as a mode of formation of oceanic crustal material, which puts no constraints on the size of the Sakmara basin.

Termination of activity in the Uralian region is dated by Ruzhentsev and Samygin (1979) as Late Devonian, an age

not supported by the geologic data. It appears their sequencing is not unreasonable, however the time events originate and terminate is too early in the geologic record as evidenced by the composite stratigraphic columns presented in this study.

The model presented by this study agrees with the order of events published by Ziegler (1981), however this study's model shows Siberia joined with the Russian continent (Laurussia) by Namurian time rather than Late Permian as Ziegler (1981) suggests. It is noteworthy that the model presented by this study fits the geometry of previously published plate reconstructions, while providing a better analysis of the timing of events.

of translated articles from the The use Soviet literature has shown an interesting result in the course of this study. The model herein described is comparable in several ways to Soviet reconstructions although it has been generated without the use of many of the facilities and information available to the Soviet geologists. This is significant since it shows that enough of the necessary information is being translated from the Soviet literature into English in order that research can be conducted using translated articles.

APPENDIX A

APPENDIX A

Paleomagnetic Data

Paleomagnetic data collected for this study are included as Tables A-I, II, III. Data in Table A-II include all data collected, including data points not actually included in the final calculations. The information is arranged in ten columns.

Columns 1, 2, 3, and 4. Location and age of the samples. Column 1 gives the plate the sample is located on. Columns 3 and 4 are latitude and longitude. The plate abbreviations are as follows: R - Russian or Baltican plate, S - Siberian plate, K - Kazakhstanian plate, U - points located in the Urals, X - points on the Russian plate omitted from the final calculation, Z - omitted Siberian points, Q - omitted Kazakhstanian points. Column 2 is the time period (1 - 28), Precambrian through Cretaceous, listed in Figure A-I.

Columns 5 and 6. The declination of the sample is given in column 5 and the inclination in column 6.

Column 7 is the paleopole as determined by the original author, listed as northern hemisphere coordinates.

Column 8 gives the number of sites and the number of samples (site, sample) used for each determination by the

original author. One or both of these numbers may be omitted if this information was not available.

Column 9 gives Fisher's circle of confidence \propto_{95} (P=0.05).

Column 10 is the reference. Those numbers with a / (i.e., 10/144) are data available in McElhinny, Irving and the Catalogue of Paleomagnetic Directions and Poles (1972, 1975). References with a ; are taken from the Catalogue and are not listed by McElhinny or Irving.

Table A-III contains the data in Table A-II sorted by time period and listed according to plate. Note column 1 is time period and the plate is not given for each individual data point. Data listed in this table was used to calculate the paleopoles of each plate.

Table A-IV is the program used to calculate the average paleopole for each plate.

Table A-V is the program used to print a sort of the full paleomagnetic data file.

Figure A-I. Paleomagnetic time scale. Absolute ages taken from van Eysinga (1978). Paleomag index # is the assigned number used in the paleomagnetic pole program.

a a sal d		paleomag	
perola		index 🖊	Ma
	L	28	88-65
Cretaceous	M	27	100
	E	26	141
	L	25	160
Jurassic	M	24	174
	Ε	23	195
	L	22	212
Triassic	M	21	222
	E	20	230
	L	19	245
Permian	M	18	251
	Ε	17	280
	L	16	290
Carboniferous	Μ	15	315
	E	14	345
	L	13	360
Devonian	M	12	370
	E	11	395
	L	10	410
Silurian	M	09	423
	Ε	08	43 5
	L	07	450
Ordovician	Μ	06	475
	E	05	500
	L	.04	515
Cambrian	Μ	03	540
	E	02	570
Precambrian		01	570+

Figure A-I.

Paleopole Positions. Pole positions plotted in Figures A-2,3,4 for Baltican, Siberian, and Kazakhstanian plates. Table A-I.

IA	Longitude	211.5	-17.9	147.8	3.4	159.1	154.8	162.2	163.9	137.0	162.6	169.9	138.9	139.8									
RUSS	Latitude °N	51.3	3 . 5	36.8	28.7	32.7	28.5	40.8	35.3	39.2	28.0	36.5	52.6	43.6									
	Time	Ч	m	ß	9	12	13	14	15	16	17	19	20	21									
<u>IA</u> 1e	Longitude E	124.7	157.2	340.4	308.9	309.5	134.5	124.8	100.8	70.3	148.5	163.5	158.2	8.1	145.1	151.1	177.7	150.6	139.5	146.8	297.7	162.5	17.9
SIBER	Latitude °N	-2.0	21.3	30.3	34.6	41.8	-19.6	-22.0	-19.6	-10.0	34.2	31.1	25.5	46.9	8.2	41.1	35.1	47.3	30.7	56.0	19.6	21.7	73.5
	Time	1	2	m	4	ß	9	7	8	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	24	28
lIA le	Longitude • E	199.8	194.1	202.9	194.9	193.7	174.7	174.2	166.1.	193.5	276.6	214.5											
KAZAKHSTAN Po	Latitude °N	42.1	55.8	68.9	66.5	64.5	58.3	58.3	55.0	55.6	73.5	61.7											
	Time	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	28											

= Pole inverted 180°.

*







Figure A-3. Polar-wandering curve for Russia. Symbols as in Figure A-2.

Figure A-4. Polar-wandering curve for Siberia. Symbols as in Figure A-2.

Figure A-5. Polar wandering curves for Kazakhstania, Russia, and Siberia superimposed.

.

Table A-II. Paleomagnetic data file. Complete file, unsorted, including all data points gathered. See Appendix A text for meaning of symbols.

.

Table A-II.

R	20	59	50	222	-19	53,44			2/32
R	19	59	51	38	57	52,176		10	2/33
R	19	59	51	211	-38	52,176		10	2/33
R	19	58	56	221	-40	45,178		15	2/35
R	05	60	30	38	41	42,169		18	2/38
R	05	60	30	Z11	-35	42,169		18	2/38
8	20	66	88	9 0	71	48,148	6,54		3/31
S	20	67	89	62	76	65,156	4,26		3/32
8	16	72	102	295	-68	40,150	, 388	5	3/55
U	09	67	66	89	38	16,140	,6		3/69
R	06	51	26	255	58	21,27	2,8		3/70
R	06	51	26	140	75	28,46	1,6		3/71
R	13	59	31	221	-12	34,158		10	4/26
R	13	57	31	34	10	31,164		10	4/27
R	13	60	33	221	-16	28,159		10	4/28
R	20	48	38	39	57	60,135	,26		5/23
U	20	48	47	42	56	57,161	,52		5/24
Ū	20	49	52	45	46	49,158	,14		5/25
R	20	53	52	220	-51	54,164	.9		5/26
5	20	87	82	92	80	60.133	.92		5/28
ŝ	20	63	114	179	87	59,114			5/29
ā	21	71	101	286	-59	32.163	.31		5/30
5	21	71	101	117	64	35/150	.34		5/31
s	21	71	101	303	-64	34.145	.25		5/32
5	71	75	108	130	69	40.177	.79		5/33
	10	E1	46	47	40	10 165	.40		5/20
π D	10	23		47	40	401100	193		5/30
Π D	10	53	51	42		43,163	.25		5/35
Π	13	53	52	777	-20	401102	10		5/40
R D	10	54 61	JL	220	-35	4011/1	. 27		5/42
R	10	57		226	-35	45,167	25		5/42
D	19	57	57	229	-44	44.167	.15		5/44
D	19	56	55	228	-40	47.169	.31		5/45
	17	49	20	225	_0	22,161	.24		5/46
5	10	40	20	210	-15	20.159	.76		5/40
	10	40	30	209		39,179	.49		5/49
	14	59	34	203	20	43.167	.40		5/50
	14	50	24	A1	29	37.162	.19		5/51
Y	14	50	24	79	25	17.127	.17		5/52
ñ	14	54	57	243	-30	22.150	-10		5/53
ē	14	43	Q1	147	87	AR.98	/		5/54
2	14	55	Q /	100	50	20.153			5/55
6	14	53	91	£2	70	49.179			5/58
0	14	55	6 0	92	70	437123			5/57
C	14	JJ Ra	67 67	102	AR	74/171 17.15C			5/52
9	14	94 44	02 (27	170	77 04	AC-110			5/50
6	14	77 84	61	121	P70 94	46-110			5/60
6	12	J7 52	63	107	57	72.154			5/67
6	12	50	85 85	112	55 ¶1	15,150			5/69
0	10		- 6 5 ''	272	- 81-		• ,		5/00
0	13	J0 60	8J 60	103	51	20,14/			J/03 8/74
ð	12	36	35	8/	23	24,15/			3/ /0

÷

.

•

8	12	55	95	104	65	30,146			5/71
8	12	56	83	98	59	28,152			5/72
5	12	56	83	285	-56	23,150	,28	10	5/73
S	12	56	83	89	55	29,163			5/74
5	12	55	9 5	86	50	28,168			5/75
8	11	56	8 3	88	53	32,162			5/76
5	11	55	95	86	66	39,154			5/77
5	12	56	96	311	27	28,155			5/78
S	12	56	98	115	4	28,155			5/78
Ū	06	54	57	253	-27	21,152	, 60		5/79
Ŝ	06	60	118	352	16	22,302	,87	4	5/80
5	04	61	116	1	16	37,296	,47	8	5/84
R	03	49	25	233	51	2,344		-	5/85
K	12	48	74	218	-23	43,201	,2 2 `		6/60
U	10	67	66	85	44	22,141		21	6/65
ŝ	11	56	93	91	51	25,163			7/42
S	01	58	95	6	-28	17,167			7/56
S	01	59	92	12	12	35,257	,23		7/57
6	28	56	92	330	72	74,18	,83		8/45
S	24	76	111	123	49	22,162			8/55
ž	21	76	111	168	18	4,303	, 98		8/70
ž	20	76	111	161	39	9,129	,160		8/76
R	20	49	38	42	46	51,146		18	8/77
S	19	76	111	149	51	19,139	, 60		8/78
R	19	55	53	40	37	44.176		13	8/82
R	16	56	38	212	-21	38.176			8/111
R	19	60	45	222	-43	45.167	5.81		8/69
0	19	59	50	228	-41	42.165	2.15		9/70
R	19	55	49	215	-44	51-178	2.23		8/71
P	19	54	53	227	-39	42.167	4.44		9/72
p	19	57	54	233	-42	40.163	3.54		9/73
Ď	19	58	56	230	-44	42.167	2.17		9/74
D	19	55	55	231	-39	40.165	2.33		8/75
C	17	43	97	264	-64	37,155	2700	4	8/85
R	17	49	39	223	-20	37.161	3.151	Т	8/86
R	17	48	38	219	-19	41-165	3.82		9/87
P	18	AR	38	213	-10	39.174	4.218		9/97
R	16	56	39	217	-31	42.168	3.104		9/93
P	16	48	38	207	_0	50.182	0/104	3	9/94
Y	16	40	A1	212	20	25.195		0	9/95
ĸ	10	57	62	200	-47	59.199		2	0/06
7	10 12	J6 1	00 20	231	-7/	J07100 A0 101		۲ ۲	0/00
	12	8 6 31	00	2J] 717	-72 -97	70/101 77 10A		J E	J/ JJ 0/100
P	13	30 62	71	27/	-6/	42110V 22.150		D A	8/100
7 P	15		37 20	220	_10	331130		7	0/1/7
7 P	15	33 65	30	227 727	-10	3711/V 20.155		/ K	9/102
Π P	15	JJ Ra	J0 47	232 771	-12	201100 21.120		5	G/103
11	14	50	F7	100	11	72.720		2	8/1/Q
11	14	55	67	200	-30	45.190		9	9/110
p	14	55 20	24	217	-3V -11	437133 17 126		J	g/111
	• •	a v				7//AUV		T	w/ 6 5 5

				•••		-1			
R	14	59	33	220	-40	41,158		6	9/112
R	14	61	37	226	-48	46,152		4	9/113
S	14	66	89	284	-66	39,146		7	9/114
U	14	52	50	250	-20	20,163		10	9/115
U	14	53	57	257	-27	19,147		8	9/116
K	28	41	73	18	32	64,192	,13	20	10/53
S	21	56	63	66	59	44,142	18,	9	10/93
8	19	54	87	102	39	6,153	-11	11	10/99
5	19	54	87	108	42	10,159	, 7	21	10/100
S	17	54	88	306	-42	2,137	,13	17	10/103
S	15	54	88	296	-41	10,146	,20	14	10/116
S	14	54	88	302	-24	7,314	,12	26	10/117
5	14	51	84	292	-31	3,160	,41	10	10/118
8	14	54	88	274	-40	18,162	,9	28	10/121
S	14	54	9 2	286	-36	7,158	,19	14	10/122
8	14	54	9 1	101	72	38,134	7,180	13	10/123
8	13	54	82	295	-66	25,134	,126	9	10/124
8	13	55	90	299	-46	8,147	,16	14	10/125
S	11	56	83	84	56	31.154		•••	10/127
s	11	56	83	268	-47	31.154			10/127
8	11	55	95	125	53	29.166			10/128
8	11	55	85	282	-47	29.166			10/128
ē	07	57	103	164	23	20.300	.133	4	10/121
ē	07	50	109	167	10	25,309	. 79	5	10/132
0	07	5 0	110	171	17	21 208	49	4	10/132
3	00	50	110	1/1	17	21,300	778	•	10/133
5		30	100	123	12	24,311	,20	13	10/134
3			110	100	14	22,314	,2/	4	10/135
5	06	28	108	162	14	23,308	,31	9	10/136
5	06	60	118	166	4	27,314	,20	13	10/13/
8	5	2/	107	164	-18	41,308	+22	13	10/138
5	05	57	104	160	-23	42,311	,19	12	10/139
5	04	54	106	160	Z	33,310	,35	12	10/141
8	04	58	108	171	-8	36,299	,39	7	10/142
5	04	57	107	165	-17	41,307	, 39	8	10/143
5	04	54	102	162	-13	41,306	,28	8	10/144
5	04	54	105	158	-3	34,312	17,202		10/145
5	01	59	9 8	132	24	10,142	,9	14	10/176
5	01	59	96	166	23	17,110	, 99	4	10/177
5	01	59	98	160	18	18,116	,25	16	10/178
S	01	59	96	163	8	25,115	,35	11	10/179
S	01	59	98	170	22	20,106	, 38	10	10/180
8	01	59	96	174	20	20,102	, 77	7	10/181
S	01	59	96	178	31	13,98	,24	15	10/182
R	01	61	35	344	46	54,240	,29	4	10/198
R	01	62	34	348	30	44,231	, 57	4	10/199
K	21	42	74	173	-45	75,273	4,	8	13/38
K	19	52	68	225	-56	54,169			13/43
K	18	52	67	233	-56	51,160			13/44
K	18	44	70	204	-46	63,189			13/45
K	15	43	70	204	-46	63,189			13/55

.

K	15	52	68	210	-57	65,180			13/56
K	15	51	68	202	-52	65,196			13/57
K	15	50	70	204	-53	6 5,193			13/58
K	15	48	68	206	-50	64,188			13/59
K	14	51	68	201	-53	67,196			13/60
K	14	50	70	196	-54	70,206			13/61
K	14	48	68	197	-51	69,202			13/62
R	01	6 2	35	35	38	48,236	, 8 6	5	1;257
U	01	53	57	193	34	17,224	,16	8	1;281
8	01	66	89	336	34	40,298	, 39	8	1;280
8	01	59	92	12	12	37,257	,22	18	1;282
8	01	59	95	155	10	-22,122	,8 3	8	1;277
S	01	59	9 5	163	27	-16,112	,78	14	1;278
8	01	55	98	141	90	-22,141	,23	10	1;284
U	02	56	57	50	-31	78,189	,191	17	2;80
8	03	68	86	317	34	-36,135	,27	9	2;94
5	03	67	87	30 5	34	-31,152	,58	6	2;95
8	02	66	89	28 1	-47	21,157	, 35	6	2;84
S	04	59	107	167	-7	-34,122	,43	11	2;89
5	04	59	107	169	-6	-34,120	,52	8	2;90
S	04	58	107	163	-16	-38,128	,18	13	2;91
S	03	57	87	272	36	-19,170	,22	10	2;81
R	05	59	28	237	-34	33,137	,10	7	3;65
R	05	6 0	30	240	-39	34,135	,11	16	3;63
R	05	60	30	216	-35	42,162	,6	11	3;64
U	07	55	57	272	-20	8,141	,6	16	3;57
U	07	54	57	255	-26	20,151	,110	4	3;58
U	07	54	57	264	-7	7,150	,22	8	3;59
Z	05	58	97	157	-19	-19,120	,101	13	3;56
U	06	57	60	233	12	16,184	,134	11	3;60
8	06	58	106	156	14	-22,132	,33	8	3;61
Z	06	68	88	304	12	-18,148	,90	1	3;62
Z	05	67	88	311	17	-26,144	,28	6	3;67
Z	06	68	88	308	5	-19,144	,4Z	6	3;66
U	80	53	57	232	-35	38,156	,5	12	4;38
U	08	55	57	Z7 Z	-20	8,141	,6	16	4;43
U	08	54	57	255	-26	20,151	,110	4	4;44
U	09	53	57	232	-35	38,166	,9	12	4;46
U	09	28	60	83	10	8,152	,241	13	4;47
U	06	54	57	264	-7	7,150	,22	8	4;45
8	08	67	88	42	45	41,210	,16	16	4;39
8	08	68	88	285	-50	23,152	,53	5	4;40
5	10	67	88	47	36	34,212	,21	9	4;41
8	10	68	88	302	-66	34,132	, 16	10	4;42
R	12	59	34	225	-23	32,159	,8	5	5;90
U	16	53	58	220	-40	47.178	,40	2	57100
U	18	57	57	ZZ 5	-27	35,181	,126	8	5;92
U	13	55	58	243	-11	20,164	,35	18	5;91
U	11	59	6 0	83	10	8,152	,241	13	5;86
U	13	- 54	59	- 44	- 34	40,179	,80	9	5;89

82

:

Table A-II. (cont'd)

K	13	50	66	209	-42	56,193	,8	9	5;88
G	12	52	68	294	-74	34,101	,78	6	5;94
Z	12	67	88	64	63	50,178	,22	5	5;97
Z	12	67	88	23 3	-46	38,203	•68	7	5;98
8	12	68	88	280	-67	40,147	, 37	6	5;99
8	11	68	88	279	-55	29,156	, 38	2	5;103
S	11	55	9 3	94	56	31,154	,500	З	5;101
5	12	56	94	101	59	27,151	•		5;23
S	13	56	94	103	57	21,151	,204	5	5;9 3
8	12	53	9 5	87	57	32,162	,162	5	5;96
Z	12	56	83	30 1	-60	19,136	,18	12	5;95
Z	11	52	94	115	26	4,-24	,23	10	5;102
R	14	61	37	226	-48	46,152	,13	4	6;185
R	14	59	34	40	40	41,158	,25	6	6;183
R	14	58	34	214	-44	49,164	•20	5	6;184
R	14	59	34	221	-43	45,156	•38	4	6;182
R	16	56	34	225	-21	33,158	,40	4	6;186
R	15	56	38	217	-32	42,167	,33	2	6;218
R	15	56	39	218	-31	42,168	•71		6;225
X	16	55	38	241	-7	20,150	, 35	4	6;187
R	15	55	36	221	-14	32,166	, 17	7	6;222
R	16	48	38	207	-8	40,-178	,73	3	6;179
R	17	49	38	40	23	41,163	,424	5	6;180
R	16	48	39	215	-11	38,170	,129	2	6;181
R	16	49	38	213	-23	44,171	,137	3	6;239
R	14	48	38	224	5	27,167	,25	13	6;207
R	14	48	38	211	-5	38,178	,42	10	6;206
X	14	48	38	200	35	21,98	,10	17	6;205
R	15	48	38	42	-15	23,171	,45		B;2 11
R	15	48	38	32	-12	24,182	,49		6;220
R	15	48	40	217	10	29,177	,45		6;217
R	15	48	38	223	-2	26,157	,20	11	6;215
R	15	48	40	215	15	26,182	,48		6;216
X	15	48	41	221	-6	36,195	,20	21	6;214
X	15	48	41	192	25	28,208	,9	11	6;213
U	14	55	62	209	-30	45,199	,19	10	6;209
U	14	53	63	235	10	16,184	,23	12	6;212
U	14	56	62	190	11	28,229	,20	6	6;210
U	14	58	57	257	-27	19,147	,13	8	6;189
8	14	52	68	260	-74	48,114	,117	3	6;203
K	16	52	68	210	-57	65,180	,70		6;193
K	16	51	68	202	-52	65,196	,40		6;194
K	16	50	70	204	-53	65,193	,50		6;195
K	16	48	68	206	-50	64,188	, 70		6;196
K	16	44	70	204	-46	63,189	,378		6;197
K	15	51	68	201	-53	67,196	,40		6;198
K	15	50	70	196 -	-54	70,206	,44		6;199
K	15	48	68	197	-51	69,202	,40		6;200
Z	16	54	88	159	42	-8, 107	,16	18	6;226
S	14	54	88	270	-42	20,162	.30	11	6;223

					,			
Tab	ole A-	-II.	(c	ont'd)				
S 14	4 55	88	315	-42	-1,139	,14	14	6;111
5 1	5 55	86	290	-46	13,146	,18	10	6;224
S 14	54	91	109	71	34,132	,107	6	6;204
S 14	58	103	28 7	-85	53,121	,19	12	6;208
S 14	59	105	128	61	47,125	,61	10	6;221
R 17	7 49	38	40	23	41,163	,4 24	5	7;204
R 1	9 49	38	224	-23	39,159	,29		7;146
R 19	9 61	45	46	39	40,160	,8	7	7;189
R 19	9 54	52	43	46	49,167	, 38	5	7;186
R 19	9 59	51	49	44	43,162	,29	11	7;187
R 11	9 55	53	40	37	45,173	, 7	13	7;188
R 19	9 57	54	230	-37	39,167	, 35	7	7;190
R 19	9 54	52	223	-39	44,169	,20	8	7;191
U 11	3 58	49	227	-27	34,170			7;157
R 19	9 49	52	37	50	52,152	, 35	4	7;184
U 11	B 57	55	227	-43	45,170	, 39		7;34
R 19	58	49	ZZ 7	-23	32,172			7;156
U 17	7 57	55	Z24	-39	43,173	,51		7:37
0 19	53	55	39	59	61,152	12	11	7;185
K 1		68	233	-26	51,160	,22		7,1/3
- K 1	/ 44	70	204	-40	63,183	,200		/11/4
N 13		61	223	-36	34,103	123	10	711/2
9 10		31	79	63	9/1101	70Z	12	71103
9 11		60	150	30	20,190	10	/	7:100
6 10 9 1	/ 27 5 71	102	103	92	-0,10/	747	10	71100
0 10 D 71		20	102	47	J J, 16J A Q. 157	,52	3	77134 0:144
D 7		47	41	72 55	437132 57.150	,33	5	9:149
R 20	4 9	52	46	47	AR. 153	.17	10	8:149
R 20) 59	51	218	-45	50.174	.10	15	8:155
R 20	53	51	51	43	43.155	.4	19	8:141
R 2	1 53	55	77	54	35,158	,18	9	8;145
R 20	53	55	47	70	62,125	,42	5	8;142
R 20	53	55	55	50	45,152	,19	4	8;139
R 20	53	51	41	47	51,164	,10	15	8;140
S 20	58	62	63	60	48,147	,711	9	8;146
K 20	48	80	28 0	59	25,135	,21	8	8;156
Z 2(68	88	290	56	26,146	,50	7	8;134
S 20	64	112	86	83	61,142	,114	2	8;152
S 2(64	112	9 0	75	52,162	,11	7	8;153
5 2(6 3	112	103	80	54,145	,25	5	8;154
5 20	68	91	82	71	43,153	,36	6	8;151
S 2(0 70	96	102	75	53,146	,120	6	8,150
8 20	0 71	102	102	64	39, 163	,747	9	8;143
8 20	63	107	120	83	52,125	,79	10	8;136
S 20) 59	103	136	85	53,115	,6 5	4	8;137
S 2	1 75	108	287	-65	41,168	,22	5	8;147

Table A-III. Paleomagnetic data file. Data sorted by plate, time period. See Appendix A text for explanation of columns.

•

.

Kazakhstania

12	48	74	218	-73	43.201	.72		6/60
13	50	66	209	-47	56.193	.8	9	5:88
14	51	00	201	-52	67.196	70	J	12/60
	50	70	100	-53	70 200			13/00
17	50	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	190	-34	70,200			13/01
14	45	68	19/	-21	89,202			13/62
15	43	70	204	-46	63,189			13/55
15	52	68	210	-57	65,180			13/56
15	51	68	202	-52	65,196			13/57
15	50	70	204	-53	65,193			13/58
15	48	68	206	-50	64,188			13/59
15	51	68	201	-53	67,196	,40		6;198
15	50	70	196	-54	70,206	,44		6;199
15	48	68	197	-51	69,202	,40		6;200
16	52	63	200	-47	59,198		2	9/96
16	52	68	210	-57	65,180	,70		6;193
16	51	68	202	-52	65,196	,40		6;194
16	50	70	204	-53	65,193	,50		6;195
16	48	68	206	-50	64,188	,70		6;196
16	44	70	204	-46	63,189	,378		6;197
17	52	68	233	-56	51,160	,55		7,173
17	44	70	204	-46	63,189	,266		7;174
18	52	67	23 3	-56	51,160			13/44
18	44	70	204	-46	63,189			13/45
19	52	68	225	-56	54,163			13/43
19	52	68	225	-56	54,169	,23		7;172
20	48	80	28 0	59	25,135	,21	8	8;156
21	42	74	173	-45	75,273	4,	8	13/38
28	41	73	18	32	64,192	,13	20	10/53

.

Table A-III. (cont'd) Siberia

1	58	9 5	6	-28	17,167			7/56
1	59	92	12	12	35,257	,23		7/57
ī	59	98	132	24	10,142	,9	14	10/176
1	59	98	166	23	17,110	, 9 9	4	10/177
1	59	9 8	160	18	18,116	,25	16	10/178
1	59	98	163	8	25,115	,35	11	10/179
1	59	98	170	22	20,106	, 38	10	10/180
1	59	9 8	174	20	20,102	,77	7	10/181
1	59	98	178	31	13,98	,24	15	10/182
1	66	89	336	34	40,298	, 39	8	1;280
1	59	92	12	12	37,257	,2 2	18	1;282
1	59	9 5	155	10	-22,122	,83	8	1;277
1	59	95	163	27	-16,112	,78	14	1;278
1	55	88	141	90	-22,141	,23	10	1;284
2	66	89	281	-47	21,157	,35	6	2;84
3	68	88	317	34	-36,135	,27	9	2;94
3	67	87	305	34	-31,152	,58	6	2;95
3	57	87	Z72	36	-19,170	,ZZ	10	2;81
4	61	116	1	16	37,296	,47	8	5/84
4	54	106	160	2	33,310	,35	12	10/141
4	58	108	171	-8	36,299	, 39	7	10/142
4	57	107	165	-17	41,307	,39	8	10/143
4	54	102	162	-13	41,306	,28	8	10/144
4	54	105	158	-3	34,312	17,202		10/145
4	59	107	167	-7	-34,122	,43	11	2789
4	59	107	169	-6	-34,120	,52	8	2;90
4	59	107	163	-16	-38,128	,18	13	2;91
5	57	107	164	-19	41,308	,ZZ	13	10/138
5	57	104	160	-23	42,311	,19	12	10/139
Б	6V	118	352	10	22,302	18/	-	3/80
5	28	108	128	12	24,311	120	13	10/134
D		110	162	14	22 200	167	-	10/135
0	90 60	110	102	17	23,300	20	17	10/130
D	80 80	100	150		4/1319 -77.177	.22	13	2:51
7	50	100	100	23	70.300	.177	4	10/131
7	57	100	167	10	25.300	.78	F	10/137
'	00	110	171	17	21,308	.49	Ă	10/133
é	67 67	20	47	45	41.210	.16	16	4:39
0	60	60	295	-50	77,152	.53	5	A:40
10	67	88	47	36	34.717	.71	ğ	4:41
10	68	88	302	-66	34,132	,16	10	4;42
11	56	93	88	53	32,162			5/76
11	55	95	86	66	39,154			5/77
11	56	83	91	51	25,163			7/42
11	56	93	94	56	31,154			10/127
11	56	83	268	-47	31,154			10/127
11	55	85	125	53	29,166			10/128
11	55	85	282	-42	29,166			10/128
11	68	88	279	-55	29,156	,38	2	5;103
11	55	93	94	56	31,154	,500	3	5;101
	-							

12	56	83	87	53	24,157			5/70
12	55	95	104	65	30,146			5/71
12	56	93	98	59	28, 152			5/72
12	56	93	285	-56	23,150	,28	10	5/73
12	56	93	89	55	29,163			5/74
12	55	9 5	86	50	28,168			5/75
12	56	98	311	27	28,155			5/78
12	56	88	115	4	28,155			5/78
- 12	68	88	280	-67	40,147	.37	6	5;99
12	56	94	101	59	27,151			5;23
12	53	85	87	57	32,162	,162	5	5;96
13	56	93	102	53	23,154			5/67
13	55	8 5	113	51	15,150			5/68
13	56	9 3	103	61	28,147			5/69
13	54	9 2	295	-66	25,134	,126	9	10/124
13	55	9 0	29 9	-46	8,147	,16	14	10/125
13	56	94	103	57	21,151	,204	5	5;93
14	53	91	142	87	48,98			5/54
14	55	90	100	50	20,153			5/55
14	53	91	82	78	49,129			5/56
14	55	90	9 2	70	41,141			5/57
14	54	9 2	103	45	12,156			5/58
14	54	92	120	84	46,110			5/59
14	54	91	121	84	46,110			5/60
14	66	89	284	-66	39,146		7	9/114
14	54	88	30 2	-24	7,314	•12	26	10/117
14	51	94	29 2	-31	3,160	-41	10	10/118
14	54	88	274	-40	18,162	,9	28	10/121
14	54	92	286	-36	7,158	,19	14	10/122
14	54	91	101	72	38 ,134	7,180	13	10/123
14	54	88	270	-42	20,162	,30	11	6;223
14	55	88	315	-42	-1,139	,14	14	6;111
14	54	91	109	71	34,132	,107	6	6;204
14	58	103	287	-85	53,121	,19	12	6;208
14	59	105	128	81	47,125	,61	10	6;221
15	54	88	296	-41	10,146	,20	14	10/116
15	55	88	Z9 0	-46	13,146	,18	10	6;224
16	72	102	295	-68	40,150	, 388	5	3/55
17	53	92	264	-64	37,155		4	9/83
17	54	88	306	-42	2,137	,13	17	10/103
17	54	88	159	42	-8,107	,16	18	7;180
18	53	91	74	69	47,151	76 2	12	7;183
19	76	111	149	51	19,139	,60		8/78
19	54	87	102	39	6,153	,11	11	10/99
19	54	8/	108	42	10,129	1/ EA	21	10/100
19			280	36	26,146	,20		//193
13		102	102	64	33,163	1/4/	9	71194
20	5	68	80	/1	48,148	6,34		3/31
20	67	89	62	76	85,156	4,26		3/32
20	67	SZ	SZ	80	60,133	, yz		3/28

.

20	63	114	179	87	59,114			5/29
20	58	62	63	60	48,147	,711	9	8;146
20	64	112	86	83	61,142	,114	2	8;152
20	64	112	90	75	52,162	,11	7	8;153
20	63	112	103	80	54,145	,25	5	8;154
20	68	91	82	71	43,153	, 36	6	8; 151
20	70	96	102	75	53,146	,120	6	8,150
20	71	102	102	64	39,163	,747	9	8;143
20	63	107	120	83	52,125	, 79	10	8;136
20	59	103	136	85	53,115	,65	4	8;137
21	71	101	286	-59	32,163	,31		5/30
21	71	101	117	64	35/150	, 34		5/31
21	71	101	3 03	-64	34,146	,25		5/32
21	75	108	130	68	40,127	,29		5/33
21	56	63	66	59	44,142	18,	9	10/93
21	75	108	28 7	-65	41,168	,22	5	8;147
24	76	111	123	49	22,162			8/55
28	56	9 2	330	72	74,18	,93		8/45

Russia

1	61	35	344	46	54,240	,29	4	10/198
1	62	34	348	30	44,231	•57	4	10/199
1	62	35	35	38	49,236	, 8 6	5	1;257
3	49	25	Z33	51	2,344		10	3/80
2	60	30	38	41 95	42,169		19	2/38
2	60	30	211	-35	92,109	"	10	2/30
2	28	28	23/	-34	33,13/	,10		3,00
2	6 0	30	240	-33	34,130	711	11	3103
2	60	30	216	-30	42,102	70	11	3/34
6	51	26	255	28	21,27	2,8		3/ /0
6	51	26	140	75	28,46	1,6	-	3//1
12	59	34	ZZ5	-23	32,159	,8	5	5;90
13	59	31	Z21	-12	34,158		10	4/26
13	57	31	34	10	31,164		10	4/2/
13	60	33	ZZ1	-16	28,159	••	10	4/28
14	59	34	38	38	43,162	,40		5/50
14	29	34	41	29	37,162	18		5/51
14	60	34	21/	-44	4/;100		-	3/111
14	29	33	220	-40	41,158		6	9/112
14	61	3/	226	-48	45,152	40	•	8/113
14	61	3/	226	-48	46,152	,13	4	6;185
14	59	34	40	40	41,158	,25	6	6;183
14	59	34	214	-44	49,164	,20	5	6;184
14	59	34	221	-43	45,156	138	4	6;182
14	48	38	ZZ4	5	27,167	,25	13	6;207
14	48	38	211	-5	38,178	1 4 2	10	6;205
15	56	34	225	-21	33,158		4	9/101
15	55	39	220	-16	34,170		7	9/102
15	55	38	232	-18	29,155		5	9/103
15	54	42	224	-13	31,168		6	8/104
15	56	38	217	-32	42,167	,33	2	6;218
15	56	39	218	-31	42,168	•71	_	6;225
15	55	36	221	-14	32,166	,1 7	7	6;222
15	48	38	42	-15	23,171	, 45		6;211
15	48	36	32	-12	24,182	,49		6;220
15	48	40	217	10	29,177	,45		6;217
15	4 B	38	223	-2	26,157	,20	11	6;215
15	48	40	215	15	26 ,182	,48		6;216
16	48	38	218	-15	38,168	, 76		5/48
16	48	38	209	-8	39,179	, 48		5/49
16	56	38	212	-21	38,176			8/111
16	48	38	213	-10	39,174	4,218		9/92
18	56	39	217	-31	42,168	3,104		9/9 3
16	48	38	207	-8	50,182		3	8/94
16	56	34	225	-21	33,158	,40	4	6;186
16	48	38	207	-8	40,-178	,73	3	6;179
16	48	39	215	-11	38,170	,129	2	6;181
16	49	38	213	-23	44,171	,137	3	6;239
17	48	38	225	-9	33,161	, 34		5/46
17	49	38	223	-20	37,161	3,151		9/86
17	48	38	219	-19	41,165	3,82		9/8 7

17	49	38	40	Z 3	41,163	,424	5	6;18 0
17	48	38	40	23	41,163	, 424	5	7;204
19	59	51	38	57	52,176		10	2/33
19	59	51	211	-38	52,176		10	2/33
19	58	56	221	-40	45,178		15	2/35
19	61	46	42	48	46,165	, 49		5/ 38
19	59	51	42	48	49,169	, 34		5/39
19	53	52	46	46	48,162	,35		5/40
18	54	52	222	-39	45,171 -	19		5/41
19	61	45	220	-35	41,172	,37		5/42
19	57	54	226	-44	45,167	35		5/43
19	57	55	229	-44	44,167	,15		5/44
19	56	55	228	-40	43,168	,31		5/45
19	55	53	40	37	44,176		13	8 /82
19	60	45	22 2	-43	45,167	5,81		9/6 9
19	59	50	228	-41	42,165	2,15		9 /70
19	55	49	215	-44	51,178	2,23		9/71
19	54	53	227	-39	42,167	4,44		9/72
19	57	54	233	-42	40,163	3,54		9/73
19	58	56	230	-44	42,167	2,12		9/74
19	55	55	231	-39	40,165	2,33		9/75
19	49	38	224	-23	39,159	,29		7;146
19	61	45	46	39	40,160	,8	7	7;189
19	54	52	43	46	49,167	, 38	5	7;186
19	59	51	49	- 44	43,162	,29	11	7;187
19	55	53	40	37	45,173	, 7	13	7;188
19	57	54	230	-37	39,167	, 35	7	7;190
19	54	52	223	-39	44,169	,20	8	7;191
19	49	52	37	50	52,152	, 35	4	7;184
19	58	49	227	-23	32,172			7;156
20	59	50	222	-19	53,44			2/3 2
20	48	38	39	57	60,135	,26		5/23
20	53	52	220	-51	54,164	,9		5/26
20	49	38	42	46	51,146		18	8/77
20	48	47	49	55	52,150	, 48	5	8;149
20	49	52	46	42	48 : 153	,17	10	8;148
20	59	51	218	-45	50,174	,10	15	8;155
20	53	51	51	43	43,155	,4	19	8;141
20	53	55	47	70	62,125	,42	5	8;142
20	53	55	55	50	45,152	,19	4	8;139
20	53	51	41	47	51,164	,10	15	8;140
21	48	38	41	42	49,152	,53	11	8;144
21	57	55	77	RA.	25,159	. 19	Q	R:145

Table A-IV. Paleomagnetic pole calculation. Program used to calculate average paleopole positions. PROGRAM KAZMAG (INPUT, OUTPUT, TAPE8) C EQUATIONS TAKEN FROM MCELHINNY, 1973; 24-25. C NPG IS A TIMEING COUNTER. INTEGER TIME REAL INC, LAT, LONG INTEGER DATA(999,6),NOTIME(28) PI=3.1415927 PI2=PI/180. PI3=180./PI **REHIND8** I=0 30 I=I+1 READ (8,20) (DATA(I,J), J=1,6) IF (EOF (8)) 5,30 20 FORMAT (A1,1X,12,1X,14,1X,14,1X,14,1X,14) FORMAT IS PLATE, TIME, LAT, LONG, DEC, INC. С 5 N=I-1 PRINT 160 160 FORMAT (* WHAT PLATE?*) READ 40, IPLATE 40 FORMAT(A1) NT=0 TIME = 080 TIME = TIME + 1С SET EVERYTHING TO ZERO NPG=0 SXL=0. \$ SXM=0. \$ SXN=0. SPL=0. \$ SPM=0. \$ SPN=0. PI=3.1415927 DO 60 I=1,N IF (DATA(I,1).NE.IPLATE) GO TO 60 IF (DATA(I,2) .NE. TIME) GO TO GO NPG = NPG + 1DEC=FLOAT(DATA(1,5)) INC=FLOAT(DATA(I,6)) С CALCULATE AVERAGE DEC AND INC. SXL=SXL+(COS(DEC*PI2)+COS(INC+PI2)) SXM=SXM+(SIN(DEC*PI2)*COS(INC*PI2)) SXN=SXN+SIN(INC*PI2) LONG = FLOAT(DATA(1,4))LAT = FLOAT(DATA(I,3)) С CALCULATE AVERAGE LOCATION. SPM=SPM+(SIN(LONG*PI2)#COS(LAT#PI2)) SPL=SPL+(COS(LONG*PI2)+COS(LAT+PI2)) SPN=SPN+SIN(LAT+PI2)

80 CONTINUE IF (NPG.NE.0) GD TO 75 NT=NT + 1NOTIME(NT)=TIME GO TO 150 75 XR = SQRT((SXL + 2) + (SXM + 2) + (SXN + 2))SR=SQRT((SPL++2)+(SPM++2)+(SPN++2)) XMDEC=ATAN2(SXM,SXL)+PI3 IF(XMDEC.LT.O.) XMDEC=XMDEC+360. XALONG=ATAN2(SPM, SPL)+PI3 XALAT=ASIN(SPN/SR)*PI3 XMINC = (ASIN(SXN/XR)) # PI3 PRINT 90, TIME, XMDEC, XMINC FORMAT(* MEAN DECLINATION AND INCLINATION FOR TIME * ,13, * ARE* 80 +, 2(1X,F6.0)) PRINT 100, TIME, XALAT, XALONG FORMAT (* MEAN SITE LOCATION FOR TIME *, 13, * IS *, 2(1X, F6.1)) 100 C__CALCULATE MEAN_POLES FROM MEAN INC AND DEC _ ----С C XP IS THE COLATITUDE. XP=ATAN(2./TAN(XMINC*PI2)) С XMLMBA IS MEAN LAT, XPHI IS MEAN LONG. XMLMBA=ASIN((SIN(XALAT*PI2)*COS(XP))+(COS(XALAT*PI2)*SIN(XP)* +COS(XMDEC*PI2)))*PI3 XBETA=ASIN((SIN(XP)*SIN(XMDEC*P12))/COS(XMLMBA*P12))*P13 IF(COS(XP).GE.SIN(XALAT+PI2)+SIN(XMLMBA+PI2)) GD TO 110 XPHI = XALONG + 180. - XBETA GO TO 120 XPHI = XALONG + XBETA 110 120 PRINT 130, TIME, XMLMBA, XPHI 130 FORMAT(* MEAN PALEOPOLE FOR TIME * ,12, * IS * ,F6.1,F6.1) 150 IF (TIME .GE. 28) GO TO 140 GO TO 80 140 IF (NT.GT.O) PRINT 180, (NOTIME(J), J=1,NT) 180 FORMAT (//* NO DATA FOR TIMES *,28(1X,12)) STOP

END

Table A-V. Data sort routine. Program used to print a sorted data list. PROGRAM JAYSORT (INPUT, DUTPUT, TAPEB) INTEGER DATA (999,10), NOTIME (28) INTEGER TIME **REHIND8** I=0 30 I=I+1 READ (8,20) (DATA(I,J), J=1,10) IF (EOF (8)) 5,30 FORMAT (A1,1X, I2,1X, I4,1X, I4,1X, I4,1X, I4,4X, A10, A10, A10, A10) 20 GO TO 30 5 N=I-1 PRINT 160 160 FORMAT (* HHAT PLATE?*) READ 40, IPLATE FORMAT(A1) 40 NT=0 TIME=0 TIME=TIME+1 80 DG 60 I=1,N IF(TIME.GE.29) GO TO 50 IF (DATA(I,1).NE.IPLATE) GO TO 60 IF (DATA(1,2).NE. TIME) GO TO GO PRINT 150, (DATA(I,K),K=1,10) 150 FORMAT (A1,1X,12,1X,14,1X,14,1X,14,1X,14,4X,A10,A10,A10,A10) 60 CONTINUE GO TO 80 50 CONTINUE STOP END

APPENDIX B

APPENDIX B

Glossary

Nizhn(yaya)(iye) - lower

Verkhyaya - upper

- Melanocratonic dark colored igneous rock rich in mafic minerals (50-60% mafic)
- Olistostrome Peyve (1973): what Soviet geologists call olistostrome, European and American geologists call melange
- Externide Smirnov (1971): miogeosynclinal area between East European Platform in the west and the Main Uralian Fault in the east. Includes Bashkir and Uraltau zone.

Internide - Smirnov (1971): eugeosynclinal, i.e., Western

Magnitgorsk and East Uralian Trough.

Tension - Khvorova et al. (1975): subsidence

Compression - Khvorova et al. (1975): uplift

1st order - upwarps and downwarps

2nd order - anticlinoria and synclinoria

3rd order - anticlines and synclines

Phthanite - dull cryptocrystalline siliceous rock, i.e.,

silicified shale, schist and especially chert
Tributary - handedness measured facing downstream

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abdulin, A. A., Bespalov, V. F., and Shelepova, T. N., 1974. Ophiolite belts of Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Earth Sci. Sec., 218:20-22.
- Abushik, A. F. and Modzalevskaya, T. L., 1974. Silurian-Devonian boundary of the western slope of the Subpolar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 209:73-75.
- Aksenov, Ye. M., Keller, B. M., Soklovo, B. S., Solontsov, L. F., and Shul'ga, P. L., 1980. A general scheme for Upper Precambrian stratigraphy of the Russian Platform. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:444-458.
- Alekseev, A. S., Belonosova, A. V., Burmakov, I. A., Krasnopevtseva, G. V., Matveeva, N. N., Nersessov, G. L.,Pavlenkova, N. I., Romanov, V. G., and Ryaboy, V. Z., 1973. Seismic studies of low-velocity layers and horizontal inhomogeneities within the crust and upper mantle on the territory of the U.S.S.R. Tectonophysics, 20:47-56.
- Alekseyev, A. A., 1976. New data on the stratigraphy of the Maksyutovo metamorphic complex, South Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 227:41-44.
- Alexseyeva, L. K., 1978. New data on age and facies of silicic volcanics in the southwestern branch of the Devonian volcanic belt, Central Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:57-59.
- Alektorova, Ye. A. and Fogel'man, N. A., 1979. Tectonic zonation of the Paleozides of Central Kazakhstan. Geotectonics, 13:330-332.
- Aleynikov, A. L., Bugaylo, V. A., Lomakin, V. S., Trifonov, V. P., and Khalevin, N. I., 1974. Some aspects of the geodynamics of the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 214:132-134.
- Amurskiy, G. I., 1976. The Ural-Oman lineament and its role in regional structure of Central Asia. Geotectonics, 10:134-141.

- Andreyev, A. A., 1973. Certain general problems in terrestrial crust structure of Sakhalin in the light of DSS and gravimetric data. Int. Geol. Rev., 15:328-333.
- Andronov, S. M., 1961a. The age of the Irendyk Formation on the eastern slope of the South Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 137:328-330.
- Andronov, S. M., 1961b. New data on the stratigraphy of Devonian deposits of the eastern flank of the South Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 137:352-354.
- Andronov, S. M., 1961c. Devonian deposits of the eastern flanks of the South Urals and their detailed stratigraphic classification. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 141:1180-1182.
- Andronov, S. M., 1962. Devonian stratigraphy of the eastern slope of the North Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 144:21-24.
- Anfimov, L. V., 1975. Statistical studies of quartz grain densities from Precambrian rocks of the Bashkir meganticlinorium, South Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 10:749-752.
- Antonenko, A. N. and Dubrovin, G. K., 1969. A section through the Earth's crust in Northern Kazakhstan (DSS data). Int. Geol. Rev., 11:976-981.
- Antonyuk, R. M., Lyapichev, G. F., Markova, N. G., Pavlova, T. G., Rozen, O. M., Samygin, S. G., Tokmachev, S. G., Shuzhanov, V. T., and Shcherba, I. G., 1977. Structures and evolution of the crust of central Kazahkstan. Geotectonics, 11:365-372.
- Antonyuk, R. M. and Tenyakova, R. G., 1977. Characteristic fossils of early geosynclinal sediments of the Tekturmas anticlinorium, central Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 235:75-76.
- Antsygin, N. Ya., Varganov, V. G., and Nasedkina, V. A., 1970. Upper Cambrian and Lower Ordovician of the Orsk district of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 193:27-29.
- Arslanov, Kh. A., Berdovskaya, G. N., Zaytseva, G. Ya., Lavrov, A. S., and Nikiforova, L. D., 1977. Stratigraphy, geochronology and paleogeography of the Middle Valday interval in the northeastern part of the Russian plain. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 233:39-41.

- Arthaud, F. and Matte, P., 1977. Late Paleozoic strike-slip faulting in southern Europe and northern Africa: Result of a right-lateral shear zone between the Appalachians and the Urals. Geol. Soc. Amer. Bull., 88:1305-1320.
- Arzhavitina, M. Yu., 1976. Subdivision of the Zilair suite of the Magnitogorsk megasynclinorium in terms of mineral components. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 229:76-79.
- Astakhov, V. I., 1974a. Unique monument of sheet glaciation in the Ural Mountains. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 219:41-43.
- Astakhov, V. I., 1974b. Main factors controlling the most recent tectonics in the Northern Urals. Geotectonics, 8:318-322.
- Avdalovich, V. S., 1978. The upper ViVi volcanotectonic structure in the central part of the Tunguska syneclise. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 239:29-32.
- Ayzberg, R. Ye. and Garetskiy, R. G., 1973. Preparation of regional tectonic maps. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 213:26-28.
- Bagrova, Z. A., 1972. Geologic and structural interpretation of the hypsometric position of quartz veins in the Subpolar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 207:55-57.
- Bagrova, Z. A. and Skobel, L. S., 1974. Transverse structures as a factor in the distribution of rock-crystal deposits on the eastern slope of the Subpolar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 214:86-88.
- Bazanov, E. A., Pritula, Yu. A., and Zabaluev, V. V., 1976. Development of main structures of the Siberian platform: history and dynamics. Tectonophysics, 36:289-300.
- Bekker, Yu. R., 1961. Age and stratification sequence of deposits in the upper part of the Karatau series in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 9:43-52.
- Bekker, Yu. R., 1966. Principal formation types in Ural folded province. Int. Geol. Rev., 8:885-895.

- Belkovskiy, A. I. and Seliverstov, G. F., 1976. Petrography of the Suroyam alkalic ultramafic intrusion, Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 230:68-71.
- Bellavin, O. V., 1971. Distribution of granite plutons in the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 201:81-82.
- Bellavin, O. V. and Ovchinnikova, L. I., 1973. New data on the morphology of the Vishnevogorsk miaskite pluton in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 209:86-88.
- Bellavin, O. V., Vagshal, D. S., and Nirenshteyn, V. A., 1971. The Shartash granitic pluton (Central Urals) and the related gold mineralization. Int. Geol. Rev., 13:487-490.
- Belyaevskiy, N. A., Vol'vovskiy, I. S., Razinkova, M. I., and Ryaboy, V. Z., 1971. Average crustal velocities of longitudinal seismic waves in the U.S.S.R. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 198:32-34.
- Belyaevsky, N. A., Borisov, A. A., Fedynsky, V. V., Fotiadi, E. E., Subbotin, S. I., and Volvovsky, I. S., 1973. Structure of the earth's crust on the territory of the U.S.S.R. Tectonophysics, 20:35-45.
- Belyaevsky, N. A., Volvovsky, B. S., Volvovsky, I. S., Yegorkin, A. V., Polshkov, M. K., Popov, Ye. A., Ryaboy, V. Z., Sollogub, V. B., Chekunov, A. V., Chernyshev, M. M., and Yurov, Yu. G., 1976. Lithosphere structure along a profile from the Black Sea to the Polar Urals. Tectonophysics, 33:359-378.
- Belyayev, O. Ye. and Yunakouskaya, Yu. V., 1972. New data on the morphology of the Central Kazakhstan fault. Geotectonics, 6:321-325.
- Ben-Avraham, Z. and Nur, A., 1976. Slip rates and morphology of continental collision belts. Geology, 4:661-664.
- Berdichevskiy, M. N., Alekseyev, A. S., Van'yan, L. L., Nikolayev, A. V., Okulesskiy, B. A., and Ryaboy, V. Z., 1977. Map of asthenospheric zones of the Soviet Union. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 234:22-24.

- Berlyand, N. G., 1971a. Relationship between gravity anomalies and paleogeography of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 196:32-34.
- Berlyand, N. G., 1971b. Tectonic zonation of the eastern slope of the Southern Urals on the basis of geophysical data. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 197:63-66.
- Beskin, S. M., Didenko, M. I., and Lishnevskiy, E. N., 1978. Two principle types of granitic ring plutons on Central and Eastern Kazakhstan and their morphostructural significance. Int. Geol. Rev., 20:1441-1445.
- Bespalov, V. F., 1976. Thrust sheets in Central Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 227:62-64.
- Bespalov, V. F., 1980. The tectonic nappe system of Kazakhstan. Geotectonics, 14:131-141.
- Bessonova, V. Ya., 1968. Basal Riphean sediments in the western part of the Russian platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 178:69-71.
- Bezhayer, M. M., 1968. Evidence of Late Paleozoic volcanism in the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 179:49-51.
- Bochkarev, V. S. and Pogorelov, B. S., 1967. New data on the chronologic boundary between the Permian and Triassic systems. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 173:18-20.
- Bochkarev, V. S. and Pogorelov, B. S., 1968. More information about the age of the folded basement in central districts of the West Siberian Block. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 179:52-53.
- Bochkarev, V. S. and Rudkevich, M. Ya., 1975. Early platform stage of development of the Western Siberian Plate. Geotectonics, 9:181-185.
- Bogdanov, N. A. and Savel'yev, A. A., 1979. Ophiolites of the Polar Urals. Geotectonics, 13:169-171.
- Boltyrov, V. B., 1981. A genetic classification of the metamorphogenic non-ore deposits of the Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 23:233-239.

- Borodayevskaya, M. B., Kurbanov, N. K., Krivtsov, A. I., Saglo, V. V., Shiray, Ye. P., and Kontar, Ye. P., 1970. Laws characterizing distribution of Cu-Pyrite deposits in Southern Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 12:1215-1224.
- Borodayevskaya, M. B. and Krivtsov, A. I., 1974. Structural and age asymmetry of the Urals in early stages of Hercynian evolution. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 217:33-36.
- Borodina, N. S., Fershtater, G.B. and Samarkin, G. I., 1971. Variscan tonalite-granodiorite association of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 200:32-34.
- Boucot, A. J., 1969. The Soviet Silurian: recent impressions. Geol. Soc. Amer. Bull., 80:1155-1162.
- Boyakova, V. D. and Yuklyayevskikh, V. V., 1971. Finds of Lower Carboniferous weathered mantle on the east limb of the Magnitogorsk megasynclinorium. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:23-25.
- Budanov, G. D. and Molin, V. A., 1971. Ufimian stage of the west Timan Region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 196:115-118.
- Bulashevich, B. P. and Bashorin, U. N., 1970. Helium in underground waters along the DSS profile, Transuralia. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 193:6-7.
- Bulashevitch, Yu. P., Aleynikov, A. L., Bellavin, O. V., Bugaylo, V. A., Khalevin, N. I., Shapiro, V. A., Tavrin, I. F., Vlokh, N. P., and Zubkov, A. V., 1976. Geodynamics of the Urals. Tectonphysics, 35:15-26.
- Bulin, N. K., 1978. New ideas on crust structure (from seismic data). Int. Geol. Rev., 20:887-889.
- Bulin, N. K., Berlyand, N. G., and Bulavko, L. F., 1979. Deep structure of Timan-Pechora Province based on geophysical data. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:1070-1078.
- Bune, V. I., Skaryatin, V. D., Polyakova, T. P., and Shirokova, Ye. A., 1976. Tectonic lineaments and distribution of foci of earthquakes with M > 6.5 in the central part of the Alpine fold belt. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 230:32-35.
- Burke, K., Dewey, J. F., and Kidd, W. S. F., 1977. World distribution of sutures - the sites of former oceans. Tectonphysics, 40:69-99.

Burrett, C. F., 1974. Plate tectonics and the fusion of Asia. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 21:181-189.

- Burshtar, M. S., Nazarov, D. A., Chernobrov, B. S., and Shvemberger, Yu. N., 1970. Methods of paleotectonic analyses (based on Scythian Platform). Int. Geol. Rev., 12:391-400.
- Chepikov, K. R., Ermolova, E. P., and Orlova, N. A., 1969. Post-sedimentation processes in terrigenous reservoir rocks of Ural-Volga oil deposits. Lith. Min. Res., 4:733-743.
- Chermeninova, I. V., 1962. Some new data on the Precambrian rocks on the eastern slopes of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 142:51-52.
- Chermnykh, V. A., 1960. Detailed stratigraphy of deposits of the Visean stage of the Bolshaya Shaitanovka basin in the Northern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 132:555-557.
- Chernov, G. A., 1960. New data on the stratigraphy of the Lower and Middle Devonian deposits of the Polar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 135:1234-1236.
- Chidinov, Yu. V., 1961. The block structure of the Polar Ural. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 136:100-103.
- Chumakov, N. M., 1980. Stratigraphy of the upper horizons of the Precambrian sequence in the Southern Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:459-469.
- Churkin, M., 1970. Correlation of fold belts of Alaska, Canada, and Siberia. Am. Assoc. Pet. Geol. Bull., 54:841.
- Churkin, M. and Trexler, J. H., 1981. Continental plates and accreted oceanic terranes in the Arctic. In: Nairn, A. E., Churkin, M., and Stehl, F. G. (editors), The Ocean Basins and Margins. Plenum Publ. Corp., New York, 5:1-20.
- Coleman, R. G., 1971. Plate tectonic emplacement of upper mantle peridotites along continental edges. J. Geophys. Res., 76:1212-1222.
- Dargevich, V. A., 1958. The source of clastic material and the earlier distribution of Upper Paleozoic deposits in the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 123:885-888.

- Dedeyev, V. A., 1972. Tectonic map of the Precambrian basement of the Russian Plate. Geotectonics, 6:148-153.
- Dedeyev, V. A., Nalivkin, V. D., Simonenko, T. N., Sokolov, V. N., and Shablenskaya, N. V., 1964. Structure of the pre-Middle Jurassic basement of the West Siberian Lowland. Int. Geol. Rev., 6:277-286.
- Dedeyev, V. A. and Sultanayev, A. A., 1971. Geotectonic development of the Cis-Uralian foredeep. Geotectonics, 5:156-160.
- Demet'yev, G. Ya., 1970. Geophysical data on the deep structure of the Magnitogorsk synclinorium. Geotectonics, 4:191-193.
- Dergunov, A. B. and Moldavantsev, Yu. Ye., 1976. Structure and tectonic position of gabbro and ultrabasic massifs of the Polar Urals. Geotectonics, 10:210-217.
- Dergunov, A. B., Kazak, A. P., and Moldavantsev, Yu. Ye., 1975. Serpentinite melange and structural position of the Raz-Iz ultrabasic massif (Polar Urals). Geotectonics, 9:15-18.
- Dewey, J., 1976. Ophiolite obduction. Tectonophysics, 31:93-120.
- Dewey, J. F., 1977. Suture zone complexities: a review. Tectonophysics, 40:53-67.
- Dewey, J. F. and Bird, J. M., 1970. Mountain belts and the new global tectonics. J. Geophys. Res., 75:2625-2647.
- Dobretsov, N. L., Reverdatto, V. V., Sobolev, V. S., Sobolev, N. V., Ushakova, Ye. N., and Khlestov, V. V., 1966. Distribution of regional metamorphism facies in U.S.S.R. Int. Geol. Rev., 8:1335-1346.
- Dobretsov, N. L. and Sobolev, V. S., 1975. Eclogite-glaucophane schist complexes of the U.S.S.R. and their bearing on the genesis of blueschist terranes. Geol. Soc. Amer. Special Paper, 151:145-155.
- Druzhinin, I. P., 1971. Cyclic bedding of Bakal Ironstones of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 196:121-123.
- Druzhinin, V. S., 1979. Characteristics of deep-seated faults in the Urals based on seismic data. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:781-789.

- Dukhovskiy, A. A., Nikol'skaya, Zh. D., and Rozhdestvenskiy, Yu. P., 1968. Differentiation of granite intrusions of the Akchatau complex, Central Kazakhstan, in relation to their ore content. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 180:107-110.
- Eisenstadt, G. E. A., Nevolin, N. V., and Eventov, Ya. S., 1962. Drilling super-deep holes in the central part of the near Caspian depression. Int. Geol. Rev., 4:221-228.
- Eynor, V. V., 1966. Problems of the paleobiogeography and paleontology in lithological paleogeographical atlas of U.S.S.R. Int. Geol. Rev., 8:331-335.
- Faytel'son, A. Sh., 1966. Genetic classification of tectonic platform structures and paleotectonic reconstructions, from geophysical data on basement block structure. Int. Geol. Rev., 8:515-529.
- Fershtater, G. B., 1968. Feldspars of Ural granitoids as indicators of their mode of origin. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 180:175-176.
- Fershtater, G. B. and Skopina, N. A., 1971. Genesis of gabbro-granite plutons of the Magnitogorsk complex in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 201:108-110.
- Filippov, V. A., 1972. Assignment of facies in Upper Precambrian rocks of the western slope of the Southern Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 7:640-642.
- Fishman, M. V., 1962. New data on the age of granitoid plutons of the Northern (Circumpolar) Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 145:53-56.
- Forsh, N. N. and Khramov, A. N., 1961. Paleomagnetism and paleoclimate of the Russian platform during the Carboniferous and Permian. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 137:270-273.
- Fotiadi, E. E. and Budkinov, V. I., 1968. More information about the region of old buried uplifts in the middle of the Tunguska syncline on the Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 179:66-68.
- Fotiadi, E. E., Moiseyenko, V. I., and Sokolova, L. S., 1969. The heat field of the West Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 189:385-388.

- Fujita, K., 1978. Pre-Cenozoic tectonic evolution of Northeast Siberia. J. Geol., 86:159-172.
- Gafarov, F. A., 1961. Structure of the Precambrian basement in the northern part of the Russian platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 1:46-57.
- Gafarov, R. A., 1965. Folded basement structure of East European Platform, from geophysical data. Int. Geol. Rev., 7:1227-1236.
- Gafarov, R. A., 1971. Abyssal structure of the base in zone of articulation of the East European Platform with the Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 13:520-529.
- Galdin, N. Ye., 1980. Some features of the deep-seated structure of the crystalline basement of the Russian Plate. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:1180-1188.
- Garan, I. M. and Postoyalko, M. V., 1973. Lower Visean stratigraphy of the west slope of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 208:95-98.
- Gar'kovets, V. G., Vol'fson, N. B., and Khvalovskiy, A. G., 1967. The Ural-Tien Shan displacement and its role in the relationship between the Paleozoic structures of the Urals and Tien Shan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 176:91-94.
- Geodekyan, A. A., Berlin, Yu. M., Neprochnov, Yu. P., Pilyak, V. L., Trotsyuk, V. Ya., and Ul'mishek, G. F., 1979. Geologic structure and possible petroleum prospect of the Middle Caspian region. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:219-226.
- Gerasimova, N. A., Dubinina, S. V., and Zardiashvili, N. I., 1977. Age of the siliceous elastic complex of the Atasa anticlinorium, Central Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 235:39-42.
- Godlevskii, M. N., 1958. On the nature of the development of trappean magmatism in the northwest of the Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 123:911-913.
- Goldin, B. A. and Puchkov, V. N., 1970. Magmatic formations and Baikalian structures of the Subpolar Urals. Geotectonics, 4:347-353.
- Goldin, B. A. and Puchkov, V. N., 1974. Alkalic basaltiod association of the Subpolar Urals and its tectonic position. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 216:101-103.

- Goldin, B. A. and Puchkov, V. N., 1975. Tectonic evolution and volcanism of the western frame of the Uralian eugeosyncline of Northern Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 17:1041-1049.
- Golubev, V. S., Kamaletdinov, R. A., and Chistilin, G. M., 1970. Geotectonic evolution of the Bashkir part of the Ural region in the Late Paleozoic. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 193:100-102.
- Golubeva, Z. V., Shlezinger, A. Ye., and Yanshin, A. L., 1978. Structural position of depression associated Upper Carboniferous and Lower Permian deep-water facies in the southern Cis-Uralian region. Geotectonics, 12:424-428.
- Golubovskiy, V. A., 1976. The Devonian volcanic belt of Central Kazakhstan: structure and historical position. Int. Geol. Rev., 18:1155-1159.
- Golubovskiy, V. A., 1979. Tectonic significance of the Karabatyr Mountains section with reference to the problem of development of the Caledonides of Central Kazakhstan. Geotectonics, 13:466-470.
- Gon'shakova, V. I., 1958. Distribution and mechanism of intrusion of trap rocks in the southeast Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 8:28-41.
- Gorbuchev, B. F. and Burov, B. A., 1970. The forms of iron in kaolinite clays of the Urals and the Trans-Ural region. Lith. Min. Res., 5:431-436.
- Gorin, V. A., 1967. The Eurasian (Uralian-Caucasian-Arabian) oil and gas belt of crustal fractures and the origin of oil and gas. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 172:49-52.
- Gorokhov, S. S., Rudnik, G. B., and Sharfman, V. S., 1962. On the problem of the age of the ultrabasic intrusives in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 142:39-41.
- Goryachev, A. V., 1980. Structure and structural position of the Ural-Oman zone of deep-faults. Geotectonics, 14:34-43.
- Grachevskiy, M. M., Ul'mishek, G. F., and Khat'yanov, F. I., 1976. Barrier reefs in the marginal downwarp of the Uralian piedmont. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 176:73-77.

- Grinson, A. S., 1975. Detection of concealed intrusions from geologic and geophysical data by means of diagnostic programs; case of the northeast part of the Volga-Ural region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 222:41-43.
- Grinson, A. S., Luk'yanova, L. I., and Pogorelov, Yu. I., 1975. Origin and detection of primary sources of diamonds on the western slopes of the Northern Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 17:1365-1370.
- Grinson, A. S. and Smirnov, Yu. D., 1973. Structure of crystalline basement of the Russian Platform at the boundary with the northeastern folded structure. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 208:54-57.
- Gushchenko, O. I., 1973. Analysis of the orientations of shear faults and their tectonophysical interpretation in paleostress reconstruction. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 210:16-18.
- Gutkin, Ye. S., Posashev, O. V., Rybalka, V. M., and Stavrati, V. I., 1970. Tectonics of the Northern Uralian bauxite basin, from the geophysical data. Geotectonics, 4:306-310.
- Gzovsky, M. V. and Nikonov, A. A., 1973. On tectonophysical interpretation of recent vertical crustal movements. Tectonophysics, 19:1-19.
- Hamilton, W., 1970. The Uralides and the motions of the Russian and Siberian platforms. Geol. Soc. Amer. Bull. 81:2553-2586.
- House, M. R., 1969. Devonian faunal distributions. In: Middlemiss, F. A. and Rawson, P. F. (editors), Faunal Provinces in Space and Time. Seel House Press. Liverpool, p. 77-94.
- Ioganson, L. I., 1972. East boundary of the Aktyubinsk district of the Ural region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 207:65-68.
- Ivanov, S. N., 1977. The Balkalides of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 237:105-107.
- Ivanov, S. N., Korinevskiy, V. G., and Belyanina, G. P., 1973. Relics of an old mid-ocean rift valley in the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 211:88-91.

- Ivanov, S. N., Perfiliev, A. S., Efimov, A. A., Smirnov, G. A., Necheukhin, V. M., and Fershtater, G. B., 1975. Fundamental features in the structure and evolution of the Urals. Am. J. Sci., 275-A:107-130.
- Ivanov, S. N., Perfil'yev, A. S., and Necheukin, V. M., 1975. New approach to regional tectonic mapping as illustrated by the map of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 221:45-47.
- Ivanov, S. N., Prokin, V. A., and Dolmatov, G. K., 1966. Nature of ore-bearing brachyanticlinal uplifts in Ural. Int. Geol. Rev., 8:234-252.
- Ivanov, S. N., Yefimov, A. A., Minkin, L. M., Perfil'yeva, A. S., Ruzhentsev, S. V., and Smirnov, G. A., 1972. The nature of the Uralian geosyncline. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 206:89-91.
- Irving, E., 1960a. Paleomagnetic pole positions, part I. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 3:96-111.
- Irving, E., 1960b. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part II. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 3:444-449.
- Irving, E., 1961. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part III. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 5:72-79.
- Irving, E., 1962a. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part IV. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 6:263-267.
- Irving, E., 1962b. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part V. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 7:263-274.
- Irving, E. and Stott, P. M., 1963. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part VI. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 8:249-257.
- Irving, E., 1965. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part VII. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 9:185-194.
- Jones, D. L. and Silberling, N. J., 1980. Mesozoic stratigraphy -- the key to tectonic analysis of Southern and Central Alaska. U.S. Geol. Survey, Open File Report, 79-1200.

- Kamaletdinov, M. A., 1961. The history of the development of the major structures of the western flank of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 138:520-522.
- Kamaletdinov, M. A. and Kamaletdinov, P. A., 1961a. New data on the Devonian of the basin of the river B. Ik in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 141:1188-1190.
- Kamaletdinov, M. A. and Kamaletdinov, P. A., 1961b. New data on the Devonian of the basin of the river M. Ik in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 130:26-28.
- Kamaletdinov, M. A., Kamaletdinov, R. A., and Kazantseva, T. T., 1970. Structure of sections of the allochthon and the autochton on the western slope of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 192:69-72.
- Kamaletdinov, M. A. and Kazantsev, Yu. V., 1968. Allochthonous metamorphic rocks of Riphean Age in the Sakmara Zone, Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 181:68-70.
- Kamaletdinov, M. A. and Kazantseva, T. T., 1978. Distinctive features of the structure of the Pre-Sakmara zone on the eastern slope of the Southern Urals. Geotectonics, 12:308-312.
- Kamaletdinov, M. M., Kazantseva, T. T., and Kazantsev, Yu. V., 1969. The structural occurence of some outcrops of Lower and Middle Paleozoic reef limestone in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 188:67-69.
- Kamaletdinov, R. A., 1960. The composition and facies changes of the Calceola Formation of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 134:902-904.
- Kamarov, D. B., 1960. On the problem of the age of the gabbro-peridotite formation of the Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 2:138-143.
- Karetin, Yu. S., 1967. A new scheme for the Silurian volcanism of the North-Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 173:61-64.
- Karetin, Yu. S., 1970. Classification of volcanic activity in paleovolcanic regions, as illustrated by the Central Ural greenstone belt. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 192:77-80.

- Karpova, G. V. and Timofeeva, Z. V., 1975. Lithogenesis and stages of alteration of the Riphean deposits in the Southern Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 10:179-186.
- Karyayev, V. A. and Kazimir, V. T., 1979. Structure and ophiolite of the northern part of the Dzhalair-Nayman synclinorium (Central Kazakhstan). Geotectonics, 13:471-476.
- Kashintsev, G. L., Kuznetsov, I. Ye., and Rudnik, G. B., 1980. Fundamental patterns of formation of a series of ultrabasic massifs in the Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:553-560.
- Kazais, V. I., 1975. Structure of the Yenisei-Khatanga Trough, derived from geophysical data. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 220:45-47.
- Kazais, V. I. and Yagantsev, E. M., 1974. Methods for quantitative interpretations of gravity and magnetic anomalies in Yenisey-Khatanga downwarp. Int. Geol. Rev., 16:547-552.
- Kazantseva, T. T. and Kamaletdinov, M. A., 1969. Allochthonous ultramafic plutons on the west slope of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 189:104-106.
- Kazantseva, T. T., Kamaletdinov, M. A., and Gafarov, R. A., 1971. Allochthonous occurence of the ultrabasic Krak Massifs, Southern Urals. Geotectonics, 5:46-49.
- Keller, B. M., Kratts, K. O., Mitrofanov, F. P., Semikhatov, M. A., Sokolov, B. S., and Shurkin, K. A., 1979. Achievements in development of general stratigraphy scale for the Precambrian, U.S.S.R. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:163-166.
- Keyl'man, G. A., Gorozhankin, V. T., Rapoport, M. S., Strashnenko, G. I., and Ogorodnikov, V. N., 1980. Geodynamics of folding and faulting in the eastern slope of the Middle and Southern Urals. Geotectonics, 14:278-282.
- Khain, V. Ye., 1972. Present situation in theoretical geotectonics and some problems emerging from it. Geotectonics, 6:199-214.
- Khalevin, N. I., 1962. Structure of the Urals in the light of geophysical data. Int. Geol. Rev., 4:212-220.
- Khalevin, N. I., 1972. Deep structure of the Urals and adjacent regions, from geophysical data. Geotectonics, 6:360-366.

- Khalevin, N. I. and Chervyakovskiy, G. F., 1970. Some results of the study of the Tagil plunging structure of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 193:72-75.
- Khalevin, N. I. and Kolmogorova, V. V., 1975. The layer structure of the upper mantle in the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 223:30-33.
- Khalevin, N. I., Tavrin, I. F. and Kuznetsov, A. A., 1969. Faults of the Urals from geophysical data. Geotectonics, 3:323-328.
- Khat'yanov, F. I., 1972. Position of the east boundary of the Russian platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 207:88-91.
- Khat'yanov, F. I., 1976. The Northern Caspian-Cis Ural Trough, a pericratonic deep-sea basin of the geologic past. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 229:98-101.
- Khat'yanov, F. I. and Tikhonova, V. A., 1962. Reefs and tectonics of the southern Cis-Ural region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 145:56-59.
- Kheraskov, N. P., 1971. The Ebeta overthrust, Southern Urals. Geotectonics, 5:214-216.
- Kheraskova, T. N., Novikova, M. Z., and Zardiashvili, N. I., 1980. Compositional features of early geosynclinal volcanogenic associations in Central Kazakhstan. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:745-758.
- Khomentovskiy, V. V., 1959. Structural facies zones of the Lower Cambrian and Riphean at the southeastern margins of the Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 10:39-45.
- Khramov, A. N., Petrova, G. N., and Pechersky, D. M., 1981.
 Paleomagnetism of the Soviet Union. In: McElhinny, M.
 W. and Valencio, D. H. (editors), Paleoreconstructions of the Continents. Amer. Geophys. Union, Geodynamics Series, Volume 2, Washington, D. C., p.177-194.
- Khrychev, B. A., 1979. Some regular patterns in the crustal construction of Kazakhstan. Geotectonics, 13:326-329.
- Khvorova, I. V., Voznesenskaya, T. A., and Ruzhentsev, S. V., 1975. Early geosynclinal formations of the Sakmara zone of the Southern Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 10:431-441.

- Kireyeva, G. D. and Dalmatskaya, I. I., 1960. Stratigraphy of the Bashkirian stage. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 9:25-33.
- Kirsanov, V. V., 1968. Precambrian stratigraphy of the axial part of the Moscow syneclise. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 178:78-82.
- Klevtsova, A. A., 1979. Late Riphean Stage of development of Russian Plate. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:167-180.
- Klubov, V. A., 1962. Use of geophysical data for tectonic zoning (in the southeastern Ural-Volga region). Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 143:46-48.
- Klyuzhina, M. L. and Kurbatskaya, F. A., 1970. Composition and formation of the Asha series of the Central Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 5:317-327.
- Klyuzhina, M. L. and Pinegin, Ye. F., 1961. The Ashinsk Formation of the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 139:799-801.
- Klyuzhina, M. L., Smirnov, G. A., and Khabakov, A. V., 1971. Evidence of currents in the Domanik basin of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 198:192-194.
- Kolesnikov, N. A., Nevzorova, A. I., and Shishakov, V. B., 1972. Lithological-geochemical characteristics and composition of bauxites in ore deposits of Novayapristan' Group, Southern Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 14:150-159.
- Konstantinovskiy, A. A. and Prokopchuk, B. I., 1980. Middle Devonian quartz-sand association of the eastern margin of the Russian Platform. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:201-210.
- Kopnichev, Yu. F., 1977. Determination of the structure of radiation of the focus of a strong earthquake from the shape of the envelope of the P-wave. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 234:25-27.
- Kopteva, V. V., 1976. Lateral distribution of rock associations of the transitional stage of eugeosynclinal evolution in the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 230:59-62.
- Koshkin, V. Ya., 1969. Central-Kazakhstan strike-slip fault. Geotectonics, 3:26-33.
- Kosygin, Yu. A. and Parfenov, L. M., 1975. Structural evolution of eastern Siberia and adjacent areas. Am. J. Sci., 275-A:187-208.

- Kotel'nikov, D. D. and Solodkova, N. A., 1971. Conditions of Late Precambrian sedimentation in the Teya and Chapa river basin, Yenisei Ridge. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 199:162-166.
- Krasil'nikov, S. N., Kalabin, S. N., Beklemyshev, V. S., and Naborshchikov, V. P., 1973. Sediment filled erosion channels in Late Permian sediments of the Sylva basin of the Ural foredeep. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 208:57-59.
- Kravchenko, K. N., 1969. The quantitative relationships between sediment thickness as a factor in tectonic research. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 189:25-26.
- Kropotkin, P. N., 1960. Paleomagnetism and its significance in stratigraphy and geotectonics. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 12:1-20.
- Kropotkin, P. N., 1962. Paleomagnetism, paleoclimates and the problem of extensive horizontal movements of the earth's crust. Int. Geol. Rev., 4:1214-1234.
- Krotov, B. P., 1969. The structure of the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 186:81-83.
- Krylov, I. N., 1959. Stromatolites from the Riphean of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 126:512-514.
- Krylov, S. V., Mishen'kin, B. P., Krupskaya, G. V., Petrik, G. V., and Yanushevich, T. A., 1971. Structure of terrestrial crust on DSS traverse across Baykalian rift zone. Int. Geol. Rev., 13:514-519.
- Krylov, S. V., Rudnitskiy, A. L., Suvorov, V. D., and Krylova, A. L., 1973. Deep seismic sounding in Salairskiy Kryazh area. Int. Geol. Rev., 15:791-794.
- Kulikov, P. K., 1968. Origin of structures in the sedimentary mantle of the West Siberian oil and gas basin. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 181:43-44.
- Kulikov, P. K., Belousov, A. P., and Latypov, P. P., 1972. West Siberian Triassic rift system. Geotectonics, 6:367-371.

- Kutukov, A. V. and Svetlova, V. A., 1972. Volcanic origin of Tournaisian montmorillonite clay near the town of Gremyachinsk on the western slope of the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 206:183-185.
- Lapkin, I. Yu. and Mavshovich, Ye. V., 1979. Junction between the East European Platform and the buried Ural-Donets Variscides. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:1201-1212.
- LeFort, P., 1975. Himalayas: the collided range. Present knowledge of the continental arc. Am. J. Sci., 275-A:1-44.
- Lennykh, V. I., Perfil'yev, A. S., and Puchov, V. N., 1978. Peculiarities of the internal structure and metamorphism of Alpine-type ophiolite massifs in the Urals. Geotectonics, 12:255-265.
- Lennykh, V. I., Puchkov, V. N., and Valizer, P. M., 1976. Spatial position and relative age of glaucophane schists at the northwest contact of the Voykar-Synya Pluton, Polar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 228:66-69.
- Levitan, G. M., 1976. Onset of orogeny in the Hercynides of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 230:96-98.
- Levitan, G. M., 1978. Beginning of the orogenic stage in the Hercynian eugeosyncline of the Urals and some of its features pertaining to metallogeny. Geotectonics, 12:429-436.
- Leytes, A. M. and Fedorovskiy, V. S., 1972. Tectonics of the western Aldon Shield (Olekma-Vitim Mountain region). Geotectonics, 6:94-101.
- Li, L. V. and Nelyubov, V. A., 1971. Structural characteristics of deposition of gold ores in parts of Yenisey Ridge. Int. Geol. Rev., 13:1543-1547.
- Litvinovskiy, B. A., 1981. Relationship between deep faults and granitic plutonic activity in the Buryat region, Transbaikal. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:34-37.
- Luchinin, I. L., 1972. Some new data supporting the theory of polycyclic development of the Uralian mobil belt. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 207:81-84.

- Luchinina, V. A., Kir'yanov, V. V., Gnilovskaya, M. B., 1978. Correlation of Precambrian-Cambrian boundary beds of the East European and Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:86-88.
- Lustich, Ye. N., 1962. Hypothesis of differentation of the earth's crust and some geotectonic generalizations. Int. Geol. Rev., 4:1307-1325.
- Lyatskiy, V. B., 1968. The Baykal-Yenisey Rift (general description). Int. Geol. Rev., 10:30-34.
- Maksimov, S. P. and Safonova, G. I., 1973. Genetic characteristic of petroleums in Devonian deposits of the Volga-Urals Province. Int. Geol. Rev., 15:497-507.
- Maksimov, Ye. M. and Rudkevich, M. Ya., 1971. Quantitative evaluation of Meso-Cenozoic vertical movements in the West Siberian plate. Geotectonics, 5:245-248.
- Malakhov, I. A., 1964. Some problems in the nomenclature of Uralian ultrabasic rocks. Int. Geol. Rev., 6:1413-1415.
- Malakhova, N. P., 1960. The problem of the age of the Koltuban limestones in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 132:486-488.
- Malakhova, N. P. and Yarosh, P. Ya., 1962. On the age of the greenstone series in the Polevskiy district of the Middle Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 142:43-44.
- Malkovsky, F., 1961. The position of the Urals stage of the Tatarian in the unified system of Permian and Carboniferous formations. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 137:343-344.
- Markov, M. S., 1958. The stratigraphy and tectonic position of jaspilite strata of the Karsakpay synclinorium. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 4:24-39.
- Markov, M. S., Nekrasov, G. Ye., Khotin, M. Yu., and Sharas'kin, A. Ya., 1977. Petrochemistry of ophiolites and some problems of their origin. Geotectonics, 11:410-418.
- Markovsky, A. P. (editor), 1972. Geological map of Eurasia, 1:5,000,000. Ministry of Geology, Leningrad.
- Mavrin, K. A., 1971. Tectonic evolution of Orenburg area adjacent to Ural. Int. Geol. Rev., 13:1279-1286.

- Mavritskiy, B. F., 1960. Geothermal zonation of West Siberian artesian basin. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 3:57-66.
- Meyerhoff, A. A., 1980. Petroleum basins of the Soviet Arctic. Geology Mag. (London), 117:101-186.
- Mezhvilk, A. A., 1979. The Muna-Anabar deep-seated fault on the Siberian Platform. Geotectonics, 13:477-484.
- Milanovskiy, Ye. Ye., 1978. Faults of rift zones. Int. Geol. Rev., 20:757-769.
- Miroshnikov, A. Ye. and Viks, E. G., 1976. Morphology and the mechanism and time of development of folded structures in the Angara-Taseyeva zone. Geotectonics, 10:355-361.
- Misra, K. C. and Keller, F. B., 1978. Ultramafic bodies in the Southern Appalachians: A review. Am. J. Sci., 278:389-418.
- Mladshikh, S. V., 1959. Ordovician rocks in the Chusovaya Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 127:667-669.
- Mogilev, A. Ye., 1974. New data on the tectonics of the east slope of the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 218:91-94.
- Morel, P. and Irving, E., 1978. Tenative paleocontinental maps for the Early Phanerozoic and Proterozoic. J. Geol., 86:535-561.
- Morozov, S. G., Ivanova, T. V., Pastukhov, A. G., and Khlebnikov, V. D., 1972. New data on the stratigraphy of the Upper Precambrian of the Ural region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 202:96-99.
- Moskaleva, S. V., 1958. On the genesis of some hyperbasalts of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 123:897-901.
- Moskaleva, S. V., 1959. On the age and structure of the Kraka Massif in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 127:640-641.
- Moskaleva, S. V., 1970. Origin of ultrabasics of Uralian dunite-harzburgite formation. Int. Geol. Rev., 12:520-533.

- Muratov, M. V., 1979. Principal tectonic features of the U.S.S.R. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:39-50.
- McElhinny, M. W., 1968. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part VIII. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 15:409-430.
- McElhinny, M. W., 1968. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part IX. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 16:207-224.
- McElhinny, M. W., 1969. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part X. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 19:305-327.
- McElhinny, M. W., 1970. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part XI. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 20:417-429.
- McElhinny, M. W., 1972. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part XII. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 27:237-257.
- McElhinny, M. W., 1972. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part XIII. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 30:281-293.
- McElhinny, M. W., 1973. Paleomagnetism and plate tectonics. Cambridge University Press, 358p.
- McElhinny, M. W. and Cowley, J. A., 1977. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part XIV. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 49:313-356.
- McElhinny, M. W. and Cowley, J. A., 1978. Paleomagnetic directions and pole positions, part XV. Geophys. J. R. astr. Soc., 52:259-276.
- McElhinny, M. W., Embleton, B. J. J., Ma, X. H., and Zhang, Z. K., 1981. Fragmentation of Asia in the Permian. Nature, 293:212-216.
- Nalivkin, D. V. (editor), 1957. Geological map of the U.S.S.R., 1:7,500,000. Ministry of Geology of the U.S.S.R., Leningrad.
- Nalivkin, D. V., 1960. The geology of the U.S.S.R. A short outline. Translation by Tomkeieff, S. I., Pergamon Press, 170p.
- Nalivkin, D. V., 1961. Flysch-continental deposits. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 141:1195-1197.

- Nalivkin, D. V. (editor), 1965. Geological map of the U.S.S.R., 1:2,500,000. All-Union Geological Research Institute, U.S.S.R.
- Nalivkin, D. V., 1973. Paleogeography of the Urals geosyncline in the Paleozoic. Int. Geol. Rev., 15:585-590.
- Nalivkin, D. V., 1976. Dynamics of the development of the Russian Platform. Tectonophysics, 36:247-262.
- Nazarov, B. B., Popov, L. Ye., and Apollonov, M. K., 1977. Lower Paleozoic radiolarians of Kazakhstan. Int. Geol. Rev., 19:913-920.
- Nedovizin, A. A., 1968. More information on Riphean stratigraphy of the Karatau, Southern Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 183:96-98.
- Nersesov, I. L., Nikolayev, A. V., and Sedova, Ye. N., 1972. Horizontal inhomogeneity of the earth's mantle as derived from seismic data. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 207:29-32.
- Nikolayevskiy, A. A. and Tyurin, M. N., 1965. Features of deeper structure of Magnitogorsk synclinorium, from geophysical data. Int. Geol. Rev., 7:689-695.
- Ogarinov, I. S. and Akhmadiyev, Yu. Kb., 1972. Basement structure of Paleozoic geosynclinal formations in the Magnitogorsk megasynclinorium of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 204:105-108.
- Ogarinov, I. S. and Khat'yanov, F. I., 1962. The eastern boundary of the folded basement of the Russian Platform and its tectonic relation to the Hercynian Ural foldbelt. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 143:58-60.
- Okhotnikov, V. N., 1968. Old volcanism in northern Polar Ural. Int. Geol. Rev., 10:1261-1269.
- Okhotnikov, V. N., 1973a. Structure of the northern part of the Polar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 209:37-40.
- Okhotnikov, V. N., 1973b. Structure and eastern boundary of the northern part of the Polar Ural uplift. Int. Geol. Rev., 15:1403-1412.

- Oknova, N. S., 1974. Use of the size ratio of light and heavy minerals in sandy silty sediments for paleogeographic reconstruction. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 214:185-187.
- Ostrovskiy, M. I., 1968. Block structure of the crystalline basement in central districts of the Russian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 181:94-96.
- Ovanesov, G. P. and Khat'yanov, F. I., 1963. Prospects of oil deposits in the Bashkir-Orenburg and Aktyubinsk regions of the Urals - possible extension of the Sakmara-Arta reefs into the area. Int. Geol. Rev., 5:1077-1086.
- Ovchinnikov, L. N., Dunayev, V. A., Krasnobayev, A. A., and Stepanov, A. I., 1968. Age zones of the Urals based on radiologic data. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 180:22-25.
- Ovchinnikov, L. N., Volarovich, M. P., Bayuk, Ye. I., and Baranov, B. V., 1971. Velocities of longitudinal waves in some Uralian magnetite and pyrite ores at high pressures. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 199:38-40.
- Ovchinnikov, L. N., Tikhomirova, N. I., and Voronovskiy, S. N., 1973. Duration and phases of emplacement of the Syrostan granite pluton in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 211:73-75.
- Pankov, Yu. D., Rapoport, M. S., and Samarkin, G. I., 1975. Devonian tonalite-plagiogranite association of the East Ural uplift. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 221:70-72.
- Patalakha, Ye. I. and Kolmogorov, Yu. A., 1975. Morphogenesis of granitoid plutons of Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 223:63-66.
- Pavlov, N. V., 1958. Problems of the genesis of the endogenetic ores of the Tungusska syneclise on the Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv, Geol. Ser., 9:1-17.
- Pavlova, T. G., 1968. Duration of the period of formation of granitoid complexes on radiologic data. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 181:28-31.

- Pavlova, T. G., 1977. Age of the Ulutau ultramafic belt, West-Central Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 232:108-110.
- Pavlova, T. G., 1978. The problem of the time of development of continental crust of the West-Central Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 238:55-57.
- Pavlova, T. G., 1979. Volcanism and tectonic position of Precambrian zones of destruction in Central Kazakhstan. Geotectonics, 13:457-465.
- Perfil'yev, A. S., 1962. Nature of the western boundary of the Uraltau anticlinorium in the Polar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 145:69-72.
- Perfil'yev, A. S. and Moldavantsev, Yu. Ye., 1960. An example of discordance between metamorphism and stratigraphy (Polar Urals). Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 132:547-550.
- Perfil'yev, A. S. and Ruzhentsev, S. V., 1973. Structural position of gabbro-ultrabasic complexes in folded belts. Geotectonics, 7:130-135.
- Petrov, V. G., 1971. New data on Proterozoic volcanism in the northern part of the Yenisey Ridge. Int. Geol. Rev., 13:1-6.
- Peyve, A. V., 1969. Oceanic crust of the geologic past. Geotectonics, 3:210-224.
- Peyve, A. V., 1973. Comparative tectonics and development of the Urals and the Appalachians. Geotectonics, 7:125-129.
- Peyve, A. V., Bogdanov, N. A., Knipper, A. L., and Perfil'yev, A. S., 1977. Present status and goals of the study of ophiolites. Geotectonics, 11:404-409.
- Peyve, A. V., Perfiliev, A. S., and Ruzhentsev, S. V., 1972. Problems of intracontinental geosynclines. In: 24th Int. Geol. Cong., v. III, Montreal, p. 486-493.
- Peyve, A. V., Shtreys, N. A., Knipper, A. L., Markov, M. S., Bogdanov, N. A., Perfil'yev, A. S., and Ruzhentsev, S. V., 1971. Oceans and the geosynclinal process. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 196:67-69.

- Peyve, A. V., Yanshin, A. L., Zonenshayn, L. P., Knipper, A. L., Markov, M. S., Mossakovskiy, A. A., Perfil'yev, A. S., Pushcharovskiy, Yu. M., Shlezinger, A. Ye., and Shtreys, N. A., 1976. Development of continental crust in northern Eurasia (in connection with compilation of a new tectonic map). Geotectonics, 10:309-318.
- Plyakin, A. M. and Plyakina, I. G., 1972. Tectonics of the Riphean basement of the Timan. Geotectonics, 6:53-55.
- Plyusnin, K. P., 1970. Systems of regional fracture cleavage in the Urals. Geotectonics, 4:184-190.
- Pogrebitskiy, Yu. Ye., 1978. Geodynamic system of the Northern Arctic Ocean and its structural evolution. Int. Geol. Rev., 20:1251-1266.
- Polevaya, L. D., 1980. Overthrust structure of the Charsk anticlinorium. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:279-286.
- Polevaya, N. I., 1960. An absolute geochronological scale. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 134:933-936.
- Polshkov, M. D., Bulin, N. K., and Sherbakova, B. E., 1973. Crustal investigations of the U.S.S.R. by means of the earthquake-generated converted waves. Tectonophysics, 20:57-66.
- Polyakov, G. V. and Bognibov, V. I., 1978. Early Paleozoic differentiated mafic intrusions of the Salairides of Southeastern Tuva. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:94-96.
- Pospelov, I. I. and Ruzhentsev, S. V., 1972. The "Ophiolite Complex" in the central part of the Sakmara zone in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 203:24-26.
- Poupinet, G., 1979. On the relation between P-wave travel time residuals and the age of continental plates. Earth Planet. Sci. Lett., 43:149-161.
- Prokin, V. A., Bolotin, Yu. A., Shigarev, V. G., and Ismagilov, M. I., 1981. The Podol'sk copper-sulfide deposit in the South Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 23:901-912.
- Prokin, V. A. and Ogarinov, I. S., 1975. Middle Paleozoic volcanic belt of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 220:51-54.

- Prokin, V. A. and Zakharova, A. A., 1969. Age of greenstone metamorphism and sulfide mineralization in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 188:91-93.
- Pronin, A. A., 1959. The major structures of the Urals and their origin. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 8:57-63.
- Pshenichnyy, G. N. and Kulagina, M. A., 1969. Metamorphism of ores of Sibay sulfide deposit (Southern Urals) at contacts with gabbro-diabase dikes. Int. Geol. Rev., 11:1433-1442.
- Puchkov, V. N., 1972. Conodonts finds in the Paleozoic of the northern part of the Urals and their stratigraphic significance. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 209:59-61.
- Puchkov, V. N., 1973. Paleotectonics of the Lemva Zone, Polar Urals. Geotectonics, 7:342-345.
- Puchkov, V. N., 1976. Paleozoic pre-orogenic formation in the western slope of the Urals. Geotectonics, 10:319-325.
- Puchkov, V. N. and Raaben, M. Ye., 1972. Baikalian molasse in the northern part of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 204:79-81.
- Pyatnitskiy, V. K. and Shtutin, I. M., 1975. New theories on the crustal structure of the Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 223:77-80.
- Rateev, N. A., Gradusov, B. P., and Il'inskaya, M. N., 1972. Formation of clay during post-magmatic alteration of Siberian andesite-basalts in the Southern Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 7:480-493.
- Roeder, D., 1979. Continental collisions. Rev. Geophys. Space Phys., 17:1098-1109.
- Rogov, N. V. and Ussar, R. T., 1968. Eastern extension of Agardag-Erzin deep fault (Tuva). Int. Geol. Rev., 10:26-29.
- Ronenson, B. M., 1968. Genesis of alkalic rocks in Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 10:685-693.
- Rozen, O. M., 1977. Late Precambrian volcanism and evolution of the crust in the Kokchetav Massif. Geotectonics, 11:195-202.

- Rozen, O. M., Ivanov, O. D., and Kramarenko, S. M., 1974. Evolution of granites in median massifs (in the instance of the Kokchetav Massif). Geotectonics, 8:87-93.
- Rubinshteyn, M. M., 1959. A reconsideration of the absolute geochronologic scale. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 129:1097-1098.
- Rudkevich, M. Ya., 1976. The history and the dynamics of the development of the West Siberian Platform. Tectonophysics, 36:275-287.
- Rumyantseva, N. A. and Starkov, N. P., 1960. Ancient ultrabasic alkalic rocks on the western slope of the Urals and in the Ural region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 135:1137-1139.
- Ruzhentsev, S. V., 1972. Main facies complexes of the Silurian in the Sakmara zone of the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 207:104-106.
- Ruzhenstev, S. V. and Belov, A. A., 1973. Some methods of paleotectonic reconstruction in complexly folded regions. Geotectonics, 7:199-206.
- Ruzhentsev, S. V. and Khvorova, I. V., 1973. Middle Paleozoic olistostromes in the Sakmarian zone of the Southern Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 8:684-693.
- Ruzhentsev, S. V., Markov, M. S., Nekrasov, G. Ye., and Byalobzheskiy, S. G., 1977. Marginal seas of ancient geosynclinal regions. Geotectonics, 11:382-393.
- Ruzhentsev, S. V. and Samygin, S. G., 1979. Tectonic evolution of the southern Ural ophiolites. In: Malpas, J. and Talkington, R. W. (editors), Ophiolites of the Canadian Appalachians and Soviet Urals. Memorial Univ. of Newfoundland, Dept. of Geology, Report No. 8, p. 115-125.
- Rybin, A. I., 1977. Review of "General Geotectonics" by V. Ye. Khain. (Nedra, 1973). Geotectonic, 11:73-75.
- Sadovnikov, G. N., 1968. Age of lower horizons of the Tunguska complex. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 180:46-47.
- Sakovtsev, G. P., 1970. The search for deep copper pyrite deposits in Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 12:787-791.

- Salop, L. I. and Scheinman, Y. M., 1969. Tectonic history and structure of platforms and shields. Tectonophysics, 7:565-597.
- Saltykova, N. P. and Shlezinger, A. Ye., 1959. Marine Albian deposits in the basins of the rivers Uil, Bolshaya Khobda, and Ilek (West Kazakhstan). Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 129:1099-1100.
- Samarkin, G. I. and Chuvashov, B. I., 1978. Time of completion of the Late Hercynian tectonomagmatic stage in the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 239:46-48.
- Savel'yev, A. A. and Savel'yeva, G. N., 1977. Ophiolites of the Voykar-Syn'insk massif (Polar Urals). Geotectonics, 11:427-437.
- Scheinmann, Yu. M., 1973. Continent-ocean differences and a differentation of the Earth. Tectonophysics, 19:21-37.
- Schopf, J. W., 1977. Biostratigraphic usefulness of stromatolitic Precambrian microbiotas: A preliminary analysis. Precambrian Research. 5:143-173.
- Schopf, J. W., Dolnik, T. A., Krylov, I. N., Mendelson, C. V., Nazarov, B. B., Nyberg, A. V., Sovietov, Yu. K., and Yakshin, M. S., 1977. Six new stromatolite microbiotas from the Proterozoic of the Soviet Union. Precambrian Research, 4:269-284.
- Schopf, J. W. and Sovietov, Yu. K., 1976. Microfossils in <u>Conophyton</u> from the Soviet Union and their bearing on Precambrian biostratigraphy. Science, 193:143-146.
- Scotese, C., Bambach, R. K., Barton, C., Van der Voo, R., and Ziegler, A., 1979. Paleozoic base maps. J. Geol., 87:217-277.
- Segal, Yu. Z., Kazachikhin, V. A., and Kolechin, A. A., 1975. Junction of old formation of the Central Ural uplift with ophiolite complex of the Tagil Trough as revealed by geophysical survey data. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 223:83-85.
- Seliverstov, G. F., Zhilin, I. V., Petrov, V. I., and Gugulan, A. M., 1971. Low angle thrusts in the west slope of the Urals. Geotectonics, 5:161-163.
- Semerkin, V. I., 1971. Tectonic structure of the Kuznetsk downwarp according to geologic and geophysical data. Geotectonics, 5:177-181.

- Semikhatov, M. A., 1981. New stratigraphic scale of the Precambrian in the U.S.S.R.: an analysis and its implications. Int. Geol. Rev., 23:139-154.
- Semikhatova, S. V., 1958. On the history of the Russian Platform during the Tournasian and Early Visean. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 2:9-21.
- Sergiyevskiy, V. M., 1970. Origin of ultrabasics belonging to dunite-harzburgite formation of Urals. Int. Geol. Rev., 12:534-540.
- Seydalin, O. A., 1976a. Tectonic development of the Paleozoic geosynclines of the Ural-Mongolian Belt (Article 1). Int. Geol. Rev., 18:753-759.
- Seydalin, O. A., 1976b. Tectonic development of the Paleozoic geosynclines of the Ural-Mongolian Belt (Article 2). Int. Geol. Rev., 18:760-765.
- Seydalin, O. A. and Sul'din, V. A., 1977. Geotectonic development of the Uralian-Mongolian Belt during Vendian-Cambrian time. Int. Geol. Rev., 19:153-159.
- Shablinskaya, N. V., 1976. Newly discovered very large structure of northwestern Siberia, the buried Yamal-Pur aulacogen. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 227:71-74.
- Sharfman, V. S., 1972. Mineralized volcanic structures in early geosynclinal formation of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 203:30-31.
- Sharkov, A. A. and Fomakin, A. S., 1978. Devonian high-alumina schists in the Pechora Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 13:373-376.
- Shatzki, N. S. and Bogdanoff, A. A., 1959. Explanatory notes on the tectonic map of the U.S.S.R. and adjoining countries. Int. Geol. Rev., 1:1-49.
- Shcherbakova, M. N., Zhuravelev, B. Ya., Poslavskaya, I. A., Uryvaeva, A. P., Fedorova, T. O., Chetverikova, N. P., Lechik, N. L., Koshkin, V. Ya., and Myasnikov, A. K., 1980. Volcanic belts of Kazakhstan and associated volcanogenic-sedimentary rocks. Lith. Min. Res., 15:443-451.
- Shestakov, Yu. N., 1971. Age and stratigraphic position of bauxite horizons of Polar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 201:58-60.

- Shnip, O. A. and Gibshman, N. B., 1978. New data on the age of Pre-Jurassic rocks in the southern part of the west Siberian plate. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 238:27-29.
- Shtengelov, Ye. S., 1981. Fanlike form of present crustal spreading and the nature of Benioff zones. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:75-78.
- Shuzhanov, V. M., 1975. Article of Zaytsev, Yu. A., "Historical-geological meaning of the 'Transition' stage as illustrated in Kazakhstan and Central Asia" (Geotectonics, no. 5, 1972). Geotectonics, 9:197-199.
- Skripiy, A. A., 1973. Geometry and development mechanism of cleavage and fault-fold structures in the north of the Magnitogorsk megasynclinorium. Geotectonics, 7:346-350.
- Smirnov, G. A., 1971. Tectonic development of the Urals, from a study of the lithofacies. Geotectonics, 5:78-82.
- Smirnov, G. A. and Bellavin, O. V., 1974. Thrust sheet structures of the Ufa amphitheater in the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 219:97-99.
- Smirnov, G. A. and Smirnova, T. A., 1960. Basic paleogeographic features of the Urals during the Famennian. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 135:1180-1182.
- Smirnov, G. A., Smirnova, T. A., and Kliuzhina, M. L., 1972. An olistostrome on the eastern part of the southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 204:108-111.
- Smirnov, V. I., 1977. Ore deposits of the U.S.S.R. Pitman Publ., Ltd., San Francisco, v. 1-3.
- Smirnov, Ye. P., 1968. More information about Transural ultrabasites. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 180:35-37.
- Sobolevskaya, V. N., 1958. The folded basement of the Urals part of the Western Siberian shield. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 9:41-51.
- Sokolov, S. D., 1979. Ophiolitic and ophiolitoclastic olistostromes of folded regions. Geotectonics, 13:223-230.

- Sokolov, Ye. I., Kozyrev, Ye. I., Rybalka, V. M., and Chudakova, L. N., 1974. Crustal structure in the Central Urals (from seismic data). Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 215:84-86.
- Sokolov, V. B., Nazarov, A. I., Kolechin, A. A., Kazachikhin, V. Ya., Kozyrev, Ye. I., Segal', Yu. Z., and Rybalka, V. M., 1974. Geophysical surveys in the Tagil Trough in the North and Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 215:92-94.
- Sokolova, Ye. A., 1958. Upper Devonian and Lower Carboniferous deposits and associated iron-manganese ores of the Dzhail'ma syncline (Atasay region of Central Kazakhstan). Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 5:25-38.
- Sovetov, Yu. K. and Yeganov, E. A., 1976. Late Precambrian unconformities in the Lesser Karatau, Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 229:94-97.
- Stepanov, P. P. and Volkhouin, V. S., 1969. Recent and abyssal structure of the crust in Mongolia (based on geophysical data). Int. Geol. Rev., 11:1443-1453.
- Stewart, I. C. F., 1981. Lithospheric structure and teleseismic P-wave reflection delays under Fennoscandia and Siberia. J. Geophys., 49:108-114.
- Strakhov, L. G., 1968. Distribution of kimberlite and basalt (dolerite) pipes on the Siberian platform as a function of crustal structure. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 179:90-92.
- Strel'nikov, S. I., 1980. Characteristics of the structure of the Urals based on findings from interpretation of space photographs. Int. Geol. Rev., 22:1355-1364.
- Suvorov, A. I., 1961. The Uspenskiy zone of Central Kazakhstan and some of its analogies. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Izv., Geol. Ser., 8:55-68.
- Suvorov, A. I., 1971. New data on the structure of the Dzhalair-Nayman zone (Central Kazakhstan). Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 196:71-74.
- Suvorov, A. I. and Samygin, S. G., 1969. Junction of the structures extending in the Chingiz and Spassk directions in Central Kazakhstan. Geotectonics, 3:103-110.

- Sycheva-Mikhailova, A. M., 1965. The relationship between block folds and tectonic fractures in the Ural Karatau and in the southern part of the Bashkirian Anticlinorium. In: Belousov and Sorski (editors). Folded deformations in the earth's crust, their types and origin. p. 286-306.
- Tamrazyan, G. P., 1971. Siberian continental drift. Tectonophysics, 11:433-460.
- Thayer, T. P., 1977. Some aspects of structural position of the parallel dike series in ophiolite complexes. Geotectonics, 11:419-426.
- Timonin, N. I. and Firer, G. M., 1969. An overthrust sheet on the Chernyshev ridge, Northern Ural region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 186:39-41.
- Tolstikhina, M. A., 1971. Cambrian paleotectonics of the U.S.S.R. Geotectonics, 5:9-15.
- Trifonov, V. P., Blokh, N. P., Aleynikov, A. L., Bellavin, O. V., and Zubkov, A. V., 1968. The phenomenon of granite pluton extrusion in the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 179:30-31.
- Trifonov, V. P., Blokh, N. P., Aleynikov, A. L., Bellavin, O. V., Zubkov, A. V., and Ovchinikova, L. I., 1969. The neotectonics of the Urals and their relationship to geophysical anomalies. Geotectonics, 3:419-421.
- Trofimuk, A. A., Vyshemirskiy, V. S., and Zapivalov, N. P., 1973. Oil-gas potentials of Paleozoic rocks in southern part of West Siberian plate. Int. Geol. Rev., 15:802-809.
- Tselikov, N. N., 1976. Tectonic shales and melange in the Medes Region, Sakmarian zone of the Urals. Geotectonics, 10:256-260.
- Tsyganko, V. S., 1976. Devonian alumina-rich metamorphic schist on the west slope of the modern and the Subpolar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 229:101-103.
- Ushatinskiy, I. N. and Borovskiy, V. V., 1980. Bauxites of the Kara-Usa synclinorium (Polar Urals). Int. Geol. Rev., 22:511-520.
- Vaganov, V. I. and Kuznetsov, I. Ye., 1975. Relationship between processes of pyroxenization and olivinization in the ultramafics of Ural. Int. Geol. Rev., 17:1357-1364.

- Vakar, V. A., 1963. Evolution of the Taymyr geosyncline. Int. Geol. Rev., 5:577-584.
- Vakhromeyev, I. S., 1969. Secondary volcanic formations in areas of pyrite mineralization in the Southern Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 187:35-37.
- Vakhrushev, V. V., 1980. Angara and Tunguska iron-ore provinces (metallogeny of the Siberian Platform). Int. Geol. Rev., 22:685-690.
- van Eysinga, F. W. B., 1978. Geological Time Table. Elsevier Scientific Publ. Co., Amsterdam.
- Varganov, V. G., 1976. Time of initiation of the Uralian Paleozoic eugeosyncline. Int. Geol. Rev., 18:1319-1322.
- Varganov, V. G., Antsygin, N. Ya., and Nasedkina, V. A., 1968. Ordovician stratigraphy of the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 183:27-29.
- Varganov, V. G. and Gileva, N. P., 1969. More information on the age and stratigraphic sequence of rocks in the central metamorphic belt in the Bilimbay-Kenchurka District of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 185:63-66.
- Vdovykin, G. P., 1978a. Traprock intrusion in the Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 239:14-17.
- Vdovykin, G. P., 1978b. Traprock volcanism in the southern part of the Siberian Platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:100-102.
- Velichko, Ye. A., 1969. Pseudosandstones in the Paleozoic rocks of the Eastern Ural anticlinorium. Int. Geol. Rev., 11:94-96.
- Verber, V. T., 1973. Geological structure of Lower Amur River region, as indicated by aeromagnetic survey. Int. Geol. Rev., 15:173-174.
- Verzilin, N. N., 1971. Lithologic and paleogeographic approach to the solution of tectonic problems. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 201:139-141.
- Vinogradov, A. P., 1968. Atlas of the Lithological-Paleogeographical maps of the U.S.S.R. (editor), Volume 1, Min. Geol. U.S.S.R. Acad. Sci. U.S.S.R., Moscow.

- Vinogradov, A. P., 1969. Atlas of the Lithological-Paleogeographical maps of the U.S.S.R. (editor), Volume 2, Min. Geol. U.S.S.R. Acad. Sci. U.S.S.R., Moscow.
- Vinogradov, V. L. and Yakovlev, Yu. I., 1974. Hydrogeological conditions of migration and accumulation of hydrocarbons in the Volga-Ural area. Int. Geol. Rev., 16:470-476.
- Volochkovich, K. L., Altukhov, Ye. N., Krasil'nikov, B. N., and Smirnov, A. D., 1972. Classification of geanticlines in the Ural-Mongolian folded belt. Geotectonics, 6:141-147.
- Von der Borch, C. B., 1979. Continent-island arc collision in the Banda Arc. Tectonophysics, 54:169-193.
- Vorob'yev, V. I., Kontar', Ye. S., Prokin, V. A., and Yakovlev, G. F., 1979. Deposits of the veinlet-segregation type in the Ural. Int. Geol. Rev., 21:1391-1399.
- Voznesenskaya, T. A., 1974. Subaqueous pyroclastic flows in Ordovician-Silurian rocks of the Sakmara zone of the Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 9:53-58.
- Voznesenskaya, T. A., 1975. Lithology of terrigenous-siliceous-tuffaceous formations in the Sakmarian zone of the Urals. Lith. Min. Res., 10:722-732.
- Vyalukhin, G. I. and Begeshev, A. G., 1975. Pyroclastic material in Devonian carbonate rocks on the west slope of the Central Urals and its significance in correlation of bauxite-bearing sections. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 224:82-83.
- Wyllie, P. J., 1969. The origin of ultramafic and ultrabasic rocks. Tectonophysics, 7:437-455.
- Yakobson, K. E., 1968. Main stratigraphic features of Riphean sediments in the Ural region. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 179:34-36.
- Yakovlev, I. N., Zarayskiy, G. P., and Starostin, V. I., 1966. Subvolcanic bodies of acid composition and copper-pyrite mineralization of Blyava District (Southern Urals). Int. Geol. Rev., 8:1017-1028.

- Yarosh, P. Ya., Buslayev, F. P., and Nikulova, A. A., 1971. Diagenetic breccoid and breccia structures of ores in Southern Uralian deposits of pyrites. Int. Geol. Rev., 13:463-469.
- Yazeva, R. G., 1978. Sodic acid volcanites of the Urals and plagiorhyolites of recent island-arcs. Int. Geol. Rev., 20:1009-1020.
- Yazeva, R. G., 1979. Parallel dike complex in the Polar Urals. Geotectonics, 13:202-208.
- Yefimov, A. A., 1977. High-temperature tectonics of ultramafic rocks and gabbro of the Urals. Geotectonics, 11:14-24.
- Yefimova, L. P., 1973. Geologic position and age of the Suroyam ultramafic pluton on the western slope of the Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 210:89-92.
- Yeganov, E. A., Sovetov, Yu. K., and Strakhov, L. A., 1975. Upper Precambrian of the Lesser Karatau, Kazakhstan. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 221:58-61.
- Yegorkin, A. V. and Matushkin, B. A., 1970. Crustal structure of the Caucasus and West Central Asia based on geophysical sounding data. Int. Geol. Rev., 12:281-290.
- Yeliseyev, A. I., 1968. Carboniferous stratigraphy of the Lemva zone, Polar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 181:36-38.
- Yeliseyev, A. I., 1969. Early Carboniferous facies zones on the west side of the Circumpolar and Polar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 184:69-72.
- Yeliseyev, A. I., 1971. Visean reef on the west side of the Subpolar Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 200:57-59.
- Yerofeyev, V. F., 1969. Nature of thermal anomalies of Volga-Ural oil-gas basin. Int. Geol. Rev., 11:1382-1389.
- Yurin, Yu. F., 1976. New proof of the relationship of chalcopyrite-sphalerite mineralization to volcanic processes of an early stage of eugeosynclinal evolution of the Central Urals. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 228:45-47.
- Yuzvitskiy, A. Z., 1976. New data on the Tom' overthrust. Geotectonics, 10:270-272.
- Zabrodin, V. Yu. and Malyshev, A. A., 1978. A new association of basic-alkaline rocks and carbonates of the Yenisey Ridge. Int. Geol. Rev., 20:517-524.
- Zapivalov, N. P., Pekhtereva, I. A., Serdyuk, Z. Ya., and Shmatalyuk, G. F., 1981. Identifying and mapping Paleozoic reef massifs in Western Siberia. Int. Geol. Rev., 23:956-962.
- Zardiashvili, N. I., 1981. Subalkalic nature of Early Paleozoic volcanics of the Tekturmus and Atasu anticlinoria (Central Kazakhstan). Int. Geol. Rev., 23:240-248.
- Zaytsev, Yu. A., 1972. Historical-geological interpretation of the "transition" stage, as illustrated in Kazakhstan and Central Asia. Geotectonics, 6:309-316.
- Zaytsev, Yu. A., 1975. Variscan miogeosynclines and their relationship with orogenic troughs in the Caledonides of Central Kazakhstan (response to V. M. Shuzhanov). Tectonophysics, 9:407-411.
- Zeylik, B. S. and Seytmuratova, E. Yu., 1974. Giant meteorite-impact structure in Central Kazakhstan and its magma and ore-controlling significance. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 218:26-29.
- Zhdanov, V. V., 1969. Granitization of ultrabasics. Int. Geol. Rev., 11:549-560.
- Zhuravler, V. S. and Garfarov, R. A., 1959. A tectonic diagram for the northeast of the Russian platform. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 128:934-937.
- Ziegler, A. M., Hansen, K. S., Johnson, M. E., Kelly, M. A., Scotese, C. R., and Van der Voo, R., 1977. Silurian continental distributions, paleogeography, climatology, and biogeography. Tectonophysics, 40:13-51.
- Ziegler, A. M., 1981. Paleozoic Paleogeography. In: McElhinny, M. W. and Valencio, D. H. (editors), Paleoreconstructions of the Continents. Amer. Geophys. Union, Geodynamics Series, Volume 2, Washington, D. C., p. 31-37.
- Zinyakhina, I. K., 1968. The Western Ural regional linear morphostructure. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 179:46-47.

- Zonenshayn, L. P., 1971. The geosynclinal process and the "New Global Tectonics". Geotectonics, 5:339-350.
- Zonenshayn, L. P., 1972. Similarities in the evolution of geosynclines of different types. In: 24th Int. Geol. Cong., v. III, Montreal, p. 494-502.
- Zonenshayn, L. P., 1973. The evolution of Central Asiatic geosynclines through sea-floor spreading. Tectonophysics, 19:213-232.
- Zonenshayn, L. P. and Gorodnitskiy, A. M., 1977. Paleozoic and Mesozoic reconstructions of the continents and oceans, Article 1. Early and Middle Paleozoic reconstructions. Geotectonics, 11:83-94.
- Zonenshayn, L. P. and Gorodnitskiy, A. M., 1977. Paleo-Mesozoic and Mesozoic reconstructions of the continents and oceans, Article 2. Late Paleozoic and Mesozoic reconstructions. Geotectonics, 11:159-172.
- Zonenshayn, L. P., Savostin, L. A., Misharina, L. A., and Solonenko, N. V., 1978. Plate tectonics of the Baikal Uplands and the Stanovoy range. Akad. Nauk S.S.S.R. Doklady, Earth Sci. Sec., 240:62-65.

VITA

of

Jay Brian Silber

Personal Data

Date of Birth: March 5, 1956

Education

State University of New York, A & T at Delhi, 1974-1976, A.A.S. (Mathematics)

State Uiversity of New York, University of Buffalo, 1976-1979, B.S. (Geology)

Michigan State University, 1979-1981, Geology

